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www.catalyticsolutions.com 

 
This document and the information contained herein include forward-looking statements.  Forward-
looking statements are identified by words such as ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘anticipate,’’ ‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘intend,’’ 
‘‘plan,’’ ‘‘will,’’ ‘‘may,’’ ‘‘should,’’ ‘‘could,’’ ‘‘think,’’ ‘‘estimate’’ and ‘‘predict,’’ and other similar 
expressions.  In addition, any statements that refer to expectations, projections or other 
characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements.  We based 
these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events.  
Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in, or implied by, these forward-
looking statements.  The Company assumes no responsibility to update any of the forward-looking 
statements contained herein.  Further, any indication in this announcement of the price at which 
common shares have bought or sold in the past cannot be relied upon as a guide to future 
performance. 
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Highlights 
 

Catalytic Solutions, Inc. is a global manufacturer and distributor of emissions control systems and 
products, focused in the heavy duty diesel and light duty vehicle markets. The Company’s emissions 
control systems and products are designed to deliver high value to our customers while benefiting the 
global environment through air quality improvement, sustainability and energy efficiency. Catalytic 
Solutions, Inc. is listed on AIM of the London Stock Exchange (AIM: CTS and CTSU) and currently has 
operations in the USA, Canada, France, Japan and Sweden as well as an Asian joint venture. 
 

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS 

• Revenue from continuing operations decreased 4% to $50.5 million (2008:  $52.6 million) 

• Gross profit from continuing operations increased 46% to $12.0 million (2008:  $8.2 million) 

• Net loss including discontinued operations was $8.0 million (2008:  $20.8 million); net loss from 

continuing operations was $9.5 million (2008:  $19.9 million) 

• Cash and cash equivalents balance as of year-end of $2.3 million (2008:  $6.7 million) 

• Sold Energy Systems division (Applied Utility Systems, Inc.) to Johnson Matthey for $8.6 million 

plus contingent consideration 

• Sold intellectual property rights to part of the Company’s three-way catalyst technology and a 25% 

share of the TCC joint venture to TKK for $4.0 million 

• Catalyst division restructured and refocused in Q4 2008 and 2009 to yield approximately $12 

million in expected annual cost savings in 2010 

• Reduced secured debt by $9.7 million  

• Company in discussion with secured lender to extend forbearance, which expired 30 April 2010 

• Cash balance as of 31 March 2010 was $2.2 million.  Failure to pay debt due will result in the 

Company not having sufficient cash to operate. Detailed analysis of liquidity is addressed in the 

financial results and management discussion that follow. 
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s Statement 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
In 2009, the Company surmounted extraordinary challenges.  We entered the year in the midst of a severe 
global economic downturn and with the need to recapitalize the Company.  During the year, we sharpened 
our strategic focus, sold assets, paid down a significant portion of our debt and restructured our cost base.  
We have positioned the Company to take advantage of its unique technology, customer base and 
operational efficiency as the global economy climbs out of recession.  While we have made significant 
progress in these areas, we are attempting to further strengthen our balance sheet. 
 
STRATEGIC FOCUS 
 
Our strategy to grow our diversified emissions control business remains unchanged.  We have decided to 
focus on certain segments that will benefit most from our unique catalyst technology and our strengths in 
the heavy duty diesel systems space.  Our Heavy Duty Diesel (HDD) Systems division has a proven track 
record spanning several decades and we believe it has one of the broadest range of U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) and California Air Resources Board (CARB) verified emissions systems and 
products. Over the last several years, our Catalyst division has made several advances in low platinum 
group metal (PGM) and zero-PGM technology, as well as in the ability to tailor catalyst performance to 
particular environments.  In addition, our catalyst technology has been proven to provide benefit outside 
the traditional light duty vehicle and gasoline markets such as the heavy duty diesel markets.   
 
Our HDD Systems division has been strengthened through the expansion of our North American 
distribution channel and through partnerships with major companies operating in the on-road heavy duty 
diesel markets.  This is a profitable business in a market that is expected to grow substantially over the 
next decade as new emissions targets for nitrogen oxide (NOx) reduction are mandated in North America 
and Europe, and similar legislation is enacted in major countries such as China and India.  With a broad 
array of existing products, new products in the pipeline and with the benefit of our own catalyst technology, 
we expect to benefit from this growth.  In addition, given the fragmented nature of this industry, we will 
target complementary businesses for acquisition. 
 
Going forward, our Catalyst division will focus on gaining more business from existing light duty vehicle 
customers and selectively acquiring new customers who value the benefits of our technology.  In addition, 
we intend to increase this division’s presence in the growing off-road and on-road heavy duty diesel 
catalyst markets through organic growth and key partnerships.  Lastly, the development and production of 
catalysts to feed our HDD Systems division remains a top priority.  Opportunities to monetize our 
intellectual property estate outside these areas may be pursued through sale and licensing or through 
partnerships to maximise return on our investment. 
 
SALE OF ASSETS AND DEBT REDUCTION 
 
In December 2008 we sold the rights to certain diesel catalyst patents for the Asia-Pacific region and a 
20% ownership share to our Japanese joint venture partner TKK for $7.5 million.  Subsequently, in 
December 2009 we sold the rights to certain three-way catalyst patents and a 25% ownership share of the 
TCC joint venture to TKK for an additional $4.0 million.  As a result of these transactions our current 
ownership share in the TCC joint venture is 5%. 
 
In October 2009, we sold our Energy Systems division to Johnson Matthey for $8.6 million plus contingent 
consideration.  As a result of the transaction with Johnson Matthey, we have effectively exited this market, 
allowing us to better target our limited resources on the markets defined in our go-forward strategy.  
These asset sales enabled the Company to reduce approximately $9.7 million of secured debt and 
continue to operate the business. 
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RESTRUCTURING OF COST BASE 
 
Since the fourth quarter of 2008, we have taken several actions to restructure and realign our Catalyst 
division.  As a result of our efforts the cost structure of this division has been reduced by approximately 
$12 million on an annualized basis.  Partial benefits of these reductions were evident in our 2009 results 
as our Catalyst division’s gross margins and operating losses improved considerably on modest sales 
declines compared to 2008.  With these actions behind us, the division has significantly lower break-even 
revenue and this is expected to benefit the business when sales increase as global economies start to 
recover. 
 
OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the Company reported revenue from continuing 
operations of $50.5 million representing a decrease of $2.1 million or 4% from the $52.6 million reported 
for 2008.  Catalyst division sales declined by 5%, as reductions in volumes due to the automobile industry 
downturn were partially offset by volumes from customers acquired in the latter part of 2008.  HDD 
Systems sales declined 4% due to the economic slowdown and delays in the California budget process. 
Gross margins from continuing operations increased from 15.6% to 23.7%, primarily as a result of 
reductions in manufacturing overhead in the Catalyst division and improved product mix in the HDD 
Systems division.  The Company reported a net loss from continuing operations of $9.5 million for 2009 
versus a net loss from continuing operations of $19.9 million for 2008.  After adjusting for the gain 
recorded on the sale of intellectual property to TKK ($2.5 million pre-tax), a charge for acceleration of 
deferred financing expenses ($0.3 million pre-tax) and expenses relating to restructuring and 
recapitalization ($2.7 million pre-tax), the adjusted net loss from continuing operations for 2009 was $9.0 
million.  The comparable adjusted net loss from continuing operations for 2008 was $20.0 million after 
adjusting for the gain recorded on sale of intellectual property to TKK ($5.0 million pre tax) and the 
impairment charge for the light duty vehicle Catalyst division ($4.9 million pre-tax).  Net loss including 
discontinued operations was $8.0 million in 2009 compared to $20.8 million in 2008. 
 
BUSINESS REVIEW 
 
HDD Systems division: Our HDD Systems division is a leading environmental business specializing in 
the design and manufacture of verified exhaust emissions control solutions for the original equipment 
manufacturer (OEM), aftermarket and retrofit markets used to reduce exhaust emissions created by on-
road diesel, off-road diesel, stationary diesel, gasoline and alternative fuel engines including propane and 
natural gas.  During 2009, this division strengthened its already well-established position in the heavy duty 
diesel retrofit market by receiving critical product verifications from the CARB – California enforces some 
of the most stringent diesel emissions regulations within the United States – and the U.S. EPA.  These key 
emissions products are in full compliance with recently implemented emissions control regulations and in 
some cases were the very first approved products of their type.  In addition, the division earned placement 
by the EPA on the National Clean Diesel Campaign’s Emerging Technologies List, a program designed to 
support early deployment of new technologies that reduce diesel emissions.  This division generated 
$25.9 million in revenue in 2009 compared to $27.1 million in 2008.  During the first half of 2009, this 
division was adversely affected by the global economic crisis and the related budget crisis in California.  
However, with one of the broadest CARB and EPA verified product portfolios, we benefited from 
significantly increased California and EPA funding for diesel emissions control during the second half of 
the year.  In addition, sales in this division were positively impacted during the second half of the year due 
to an expanded distribution channel in the U.S., which was put in place in the latter part of 2008 and the 
first half of 2009.  We expect the benefits from increased U.S. government funding and our expanded 
distribution capacity to continue in 2010.   
 
Catalyst division: Our Catalyst division produces catalyst formulations for gasoline, diesel and natural 
gas induced emissions that offer superior performance, proven durability and cost effectiveness for 
multiple markets and a wide range of applications. Revenue from catalyst sales was $25.1 million in 2009, 
down 5% compared to revenue of $26.3 million in 2008.  The significant decline in worldwide auto sales 
affected this division adversely; however, sales to customers acquired in the latter part of 2008 helped to 
partially off-set this decline. Gross margins improved year-over-year as a result of manufacturing overhead 
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cost reductions.  Additionally, operating expenses in this division were reduced, resulting in a significant 
reduction in operating losses from $14.1 million in 2008 to $5.7 million in 2009.  The reduction in 
manufacturing costs and operating expenses is expected to continue to benefit business performance 
going forward.  We believe our customers value our innovative low-PGM and zero-PGM technology and 
its associated economic benefits and anticipate that business from these customers will continue to grow 
as the global economy and demand for automobiles turns around and our financial condition improves.  In 
addition, we intend to accelerate our pursuit of the heavy duty diesel catalyst market.  
  
Research and development:  Our extensive research and development in catalyst technology has 
resulted in a broad array of products for the light duty vehicle and heavy duty diesel markets.  Our 
restructuring actions have further resulted in a more cost-effective and focused research and development 
effort designed to support our strategic objectives in the light duty vehicle and heavy duty diesel markets.  
Sales of our technology to TKK are examples of monetization of technology which we may pursue in other 
areas.  Our product development in the HDD Systems division has resulted in a broad family of verified 
products and systems, with additional products in the pipeline.  Lastly, we seek to acquire competitive 
advantage through the use of customized catalysts for our emission control systems. 
 
Liquidity: The primary short term challenge facing the Company is liquidity.  At 31 December 2009, we 
had $2.3 million in cash. Our access to working capital is limited and our debt service obligations and 
operating losses for 2009 exceed our current cash reserves.  As described above, during 2009 the 
Company sold certain assets and businesses and reduced $9.7 million of debt.   
 
In order to address the Company’s ability to operate as a going concern, in the first quarter of 2009 we 
retained a U.S.-based investment banking firm to act as a financial advisor to the Company in exploring 
alternatives to recapitalize the Company.  Alternatives under consideration include the sale of Company 
stock and/or a sale of the Company’s assets, while negotiating with our lenders to modify loan terms in 
order to delay repayments while alternative capital is secured.  The Company’s lenders have from time to 
time evidenced their willingness to cooperate with the Company as it seeks to recapitalize.  At this time we 
cannot provide any assurances that the Company will be successful in its continuing efforts to recapitalize 
the balance sheet or in its work with lenders on loan modifications. In the event that we are not successful 
in the immediate future, there is substantial doubt that the Company will be able to continue operations 
without filing a petition of bankruptcy.  There can be no assurances that in that event we would be able to 
reorganize through bankruptcy, and we might be forced to effect a liquidation of our assets. 
 
SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK 
 
Throughout 2009, the Company has taken several actions to restructure the business, repay its debt and 
position itself for growth and profitability.  Consistent with our strategy, the Company has a diversified 
emissions control business and exciting technologies that establish the building blocks for growth over the 
long term.  We have restructured our Catalyst division to be able to better withstand the type of economic 
crisis we experienced in 2009.  At the same time, we have focused our development and marketing 
strategy in this business, preparing to take advantage of the significant opportunities our technology 
presents in the growing heavy duty diesel emissions market.  Our HDD Systems division is benefiting from 
increased funding and tighter regulations in diesel emissions.  We have the building blocks to grow 
profitably through organic growth as well as selective acquisitions. 
 
Lack of liquidity remains our greatest challenge.  The Board and management are committed to raising 
sufficient capital, maintaining the momentum in sales growth in our HDD Systems division, diversifying our 
Catalyst division and optimizing the cost structure of the Company to achieve our goal of sustainable 
profitability.   

    
Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III     Charles F. Call 
Non-Executive Director, Chairman    Chief Executive Officer 
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Management’s Discussion of Results 
 
The Company reports its 2009 financial results under U.S. GAAP, consistent with prior periods and the 
placing and admission to AIM. 
 
OVERVIEW 
 
We are a global manufacturer and distributor of emissions control systems and products, focused in the 
heavy duty diesel and light duty vehicle markets. Our emissions control systems and products are 
designed to deliver high value to our customers while benefiting the global environment through air quality 
improvement, sustainability and energy efficiency.  
 
Heavy Duty Diesel (HDD) Systems Division:  Through our HDD Systems division we design and 
manufacture verified exhaust emissions control solutions. The HDD Systems division offers a full range of 
products for the original equipment manufacturer (OEM), aftermarket and retrofit markets that reduce 
exhaust emissions created by on-road, off-road and stationary diesel, gasoline and alternative fuel 
engines including propane and natural gas.  Revenues from our HDD Systems division accounted for 
approximately 51% of our total consolidated revenues from continuing operations for fiscal 2009. 
 
We have developed a portfolio of emission control systems that are verified for use by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and by the California Air Resources Board (CARB).  Additionally, 
our products are verified for use in Europe.  The market for our products is substantially dependent on 
funding for emissions reduction by the U.S. federal and state governments, the EPA and various other 
jurisdictions and agencies in North America and in Europe.  As a result of the economic crisis in late 2008 
and 2009, the U.S. government through the American Recovery and Reconstruction Act (Stimulus Bill) 
increased spending on diesel emissions considerably. In addition, current and anticipated diesel emissions 
control regulations in North America, Europe and Asia are expected to drive the market for our products.  
However, future levels of funding could decrease as a result of changing budgetary priorities or could shift 
to products that we do not provide.  Additionally, competition and new technologies may enter the market, 
reducing demand for our products. 
 
Catalyst Division:  Through our Catalyst division, we produce catalyst formulations for gasoline, diesel 
and natural gas induced emissions that are offered for multiple markets and a wide range of applications. 
A family of unique high-performance catalysts has been developed — with base-metals or low platinum 
group metal (PGM) and zero-PGM content — to provide increased catalytic function and value for 
technology-driven automotive industry customers. Our technical and manufacturing competence in the 
light duty vehicle market meets auto makers’ most stringent requirements, having supplied over 9 million 
parts to light duty vehicle customers since 1996.  We also provide catalyst formulations for our HDD 
Systems division.  Revenues from our Catalyst division accounted for approximately 49% of our total 
consolidated revenues from continuing operations for fiscal 2009. 
 
The market for emissions control catalysts is dominated by a few very large global companies.  We 
compete in this market through our technological ability to significantly reduce the platinum group metal 
(PGM) content of our catalysts, resulting in cost advantage to our customers.  Our strategy in the 
automobile segment of this business is to focus on growing business with existing customers and 
selectively acquiring new customers.  We believe that our customers choose among competing products 
based on product performance, value and service.  We also believe that price and the financial health of 
our business has become an important factor in purchasing decisions, particularly as a result of the severe 
downturn in the automobile industry. 
 
Asian Joint Venture:  In February 2008 we entered into an agreement with Tanaka Kikinzoku Kogyo 
Kabushiki Kaisha (TKK) to form a new joint venture company, TC Catalyst Incorporated (TCC) to 
manufacture and distribute catalysts in the Asia-Pacific territories. 
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Under the terms of the agreement, the Company and TKK each originally owned 50% of TCC.  TKK 
provided TCC with $1.0 million in equity and capital and $5.0 million in debt financing, while the Company 
provided $1.0 million of equity and licensed specific patents, and technology and intellectual property for 
use in the defined territory royalty free to the venture.  In exchange for the licensed technology, TCC 
issued the Company a promissory note for JPY 500 million (U.S. $4.7 million) that accrued interest at 
2.8%, due in March 2018.   
 
In December of 2008, we entered into an agreement with TKK to alter the Joint Venture Agreement.  We 
sold 40% of our ownership interest in TCC to TKK for $441,000, reducing our ownership share of TCC 
from 50% to 30%.  We agreed to sell and transfer specific heavy duty diesel catalyst technology and 
intellectual property for use in the defined territory for a total selling price of $7.5 million.  TKK agreed to 
provide that intellectual property to TCC on a royalty-free basis.  $5.0 million of the sale was completed 
and was recognized as a gain in 2008, with the balance of $2.5 million being recognized in 2009.  The 
promissory note from TCC was reduced from JPY 500 million to JPY 250 million.  As a result of this sale, 
a gain of $5.0 million was recorded in fiscal 2008 and $2.5 million in fiscal 2009. 
 
In December of 2009, we entered into another agreement with TKK to further alter the Joint Venture 
Agreement.  We sold 83% of our remaining ownership of TCC to TKK for $108,000 reducing our 
ownership share from 30% to 5%.  We agreed to sell and transfer specific three-way catalyst technology 
and intellectual property for use in the defined territory for a total selling price of $3.9 million.  TKK agreed 
to provide that intellectual property to TCC on a royalty-free basis.  The sale was completed and the full 
amount was recognized as a gain of $3.9 million in January 2010.  The promissory note of JPY 250 million 
was retired. 
 
Discontinued Operations:  In August 2006, we acquired the assets of Applied Utility Systems (Energy 
Systems division) a business engaged in the engineering and installation of emission control systems for 
natural gas fired boilers and process heaters in refineries and manufacturing plants.  In October 2009 we 
sold the assets of this business to Johnson Matthey for a cash consideration of $8.6 million and certain 
contingent payments amounting up to $1.4 million.  Of the contingent consideration, $0.5 million was due 
to us on the successful receipt of an order by the business.  As this order was not received, this portion of 
the contingent consideration is no longer payable to us.  The remaining contingent consideration is 
payable to us through July 2013 based on the outcome of project and contract warranties.  The proceeds 
from this sale were used to repay approximately $6.8 million in secured debt and for general working 
capital.  
 
Liquidity:  Since the second half of 2008, our working capital has been severely limited.  During 2009 we 
took several actions to improve our liquidity.  These actions have included: (i) reduction in cash used in 
operations through cost reductions and improved working capital management; (ii) sale of assets including 
the sale of the assets of Applied Utility Systems and sale of intellectual property; and (iii) repayment of 
debt.  However, at 31 December 2009 the Company had $2.3 million in cash. Our access to working 
capital continues to be limited and our debt service obligations and projected operating capital 
requirements for 2010 exceed our cash balance as of 31 December 2009. 
 
On 31 March 2009, we failed to achieve two of the covenants under the bank loan agreement with Fifth 
Third Bank (see Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Fifth Third Bank 
loan agreement).  The covenants that the Company failed to achieve are those related to the annualized 
EBITDA and the funded debt to EBITDA ratio for the Engine Control Systems (HDD) subsidiary.  The bank 
has periodically agreed to temporary suspensions of its rights with respect to the breach of these two 
covenants.  We are currently in discussion with the bank regarding an extension to the forbearance which 
ended on 30 April 2010 and we will make an announcement once these discussions are finalized.  The 
bank’s forbearance is subject to the Company, in Fifth Third Bank’s opinion, making reasonably 
satisfactory progress in its efforts to recapitalize its balance sheet and the provision of an audit report on 
the collateral pledged by the Company to Fifth Third Bank.  The audit was completed in December 2009 
and no issues were identified.  The loan agreement also contains a material adverse change clause, 
exercisable if, in the opinion of the bank, there is a material adverse change in financial condition, 
ownership or operation of Engine Control Systems or the Company. 



 9

We have suffered recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception of the 
Company, resulting in an accumulated deficit of $149.3 million at 31 December 2009.  In addition, due to 
non-compliance with the above-mentioned loan covenants and per the repayment obligations under the 
Company’s loan forbearance agreements, the total debt of the Company has been classified as current 
and due and payable in 2010. As a result of this classification, the Company has a working capital deficit 
of $4.4 million.  Failure to recapitalize or to renegotiate payment terms for debt due will result in the 
Company not having sufficient cash to operate. 
 
These matters raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In 
order to address this uncertainty, in the first quarter of 2009, the Company retained a U.S.-based 
investment banking firm to act as a financial advisor to the Company in exploring alternatives to 
recapitalize the Company.  Alternatives under consideration include the sale of Company stock and/or a 
sale of the Company’s assets.  At this time the Company cannot provide any assurances that it will be 
successful in its continuing efforts to recapitalize the balance sheet or work with its lenders on loan 
modifications. In the event that the Company is not successful in the immediate future, the Company will 
be unable to continue operations and may be required to file bankruptcy.  There can be no assurances 
that the Company will be able to reorganize through bankruptcy, and might be forced to effect a liquidation 
of its assets.  
 
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS 
 
Fiscal 2009 compared to Fiscal 2008:  We reported a net loss including discontinued operations of $8.0 
million for fiscal 2009 compared to $20.8 million for fiscal 2008.  We reported a consolidated operating 
loss from continuing operations of $8.0 million for fiscal 2009 an improvement of 52% from the $16.7 
million operating loss from continuing operations reported for fiscal 2008.  We realized this $8.7 million 
reduction in losses despite a 4% decrease in total revenue from continuing operations in 2009 to $50.5 
million in fiscal 2009 from $52.6 million in fiscal 2008.  We incurred severance and costs to recapitalize the 
Company of $2.7 million and recorded a gain on sale of intellectual property of $2.5 million as a reduction 
in operating expense in fiscal 2009.  In fiscal 2008 we recorded a charge for asset impairment of $4.9 
million in our Catalyst division and recorded a gain on sale of intellectual property of $5.0 million as a 
reduction in operating expense. 
 
The reduction in losses in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily a result of restructuring and cost-cutting 
initiatives we have undertaken in the Catalyst division since September 2008.  As a result of a review of 
our Catalyst division strategy, the downturn in the automobile industry and in order to reduce cash usage, 
we reduced the cost structure of this division, including reductions in manufacturing overhead, selling, 
general and administrative and research and development expenses.  Actions that we believe will result in 
annual cost reductions of approximately $12 million were identified and implemented between September 
2008 and December 2009.  The resultant savings began occurring in fiscal 2009 with full benefits 
expected in 2010.  These reductions were made possible through a combination of focusing the marketing 
strategy to a select light duty vehicle customer base and to heavy duty diesel catalysts, elimination of 
duplication between manufacturing and engineering functions, reduction in outside catalyst testing 
services through the successful deployment of an internally developed test bench, the installation of a new 
enterprise resource planning (ERP) system in 2008 and through an aggressive program to manage and 
reduce scrap and shrinkage in the factory. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
 
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our 
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States. Our preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements 
requires us to make judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We base our estimates on historical 
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
As a result, actual results may differ from such estimates. Our senior management has reviewed these 
critical accounting policies and related disclosures with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. The 
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following summarizes our critical accounting policies and significant estimates used in preparing our 
Consolidated Financial Statements:  
 
Revenue Recognition:  We recognize revenue upon shipment of products when title and risk of loss 
passes, and when terms are fixed and collection is reasonably assured. Where installation services, if 
provided, are essential to the functionality of the equipment, we defer the portion of revenue for the sale 
attributable to installation until we have completed the installation. Concurrent with the shipment of the 
product, we accrue estimated product return reserves and warranty expenses. Critical judgments also 
include estimates of warranty reserves, which are established based on historical experience and 
knowledge of the product.  
  
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:  The allowance for doubtful accounts involves estimates based on 
management’s judgment, review of individual receivables and analysis of historical bad debts. We monitor 
collections and payments from our customers and we maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for 
estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We also assess 
current economic trends that might impact the level of credit losses in the future. If the financial condition 
of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, 
additional allowances could be required.  
  
Inventory:   Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out 
method. We write down inventory for slow-moving and obsolete inventory based on assessments of future 
demands, market conditions and customers who may be experiencing financial difficulties. If these factors 
were to become less favourable than those projected, additional inventory write-downs could be required.  
  
Income Taxes:  Our income tax expense is dependent on the profitability of our various international 
subsidiaries including Canada and Sweden.  These subsidiaries are subject to income taxation based on 
local tax laws in these countries.  Our U.S. operations have continually incurred losses since inception. 
  
Our annual tax expense is based on our income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities 
available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax laws are complex and subject to 
different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant 
judgment is required in determining our tax expense and in evaluating our tax positions including 
evaluating uncertainties. We review our tax positions quarterly and adjust the balances as new information 
becomes available.  
  
Deferred income tax assets represent amounts available to reduce income taxes payable on taxable 
income in future years. Such assets arise because of temporary differences between the financial 
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carry-
forwards. We evaluate the recoverability of these future tax deductions by assessing the adequacy of 
future expected taxable income from all sources, including reversal of taxable temporary differences, 
forecasted operating earnings and available tax planning strategies. These sources of income inherently 
rely on estimates. To provide insight, we use our historical experience and our short and long-range 
business forecasts. We believe it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred income tax assets 
may expire unused and have established a valuation allowance against them. Although realization is not 
assured for the remaining deferred income tax assets, primarily related to foreign tax jurisdictions, we 
believe it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be fully recoverable within the applicable 
statutory expiration periods. However, deferred tax assets could be reduced in the near term if our 
estimates of taxable income in certain jurisdictions are significantly reduced or available tax planning 
strategies are no longer viable.  
  
Business Combinations:  Under the purchase method of accounting, we allocate the purchase price of 
acquired companies to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
based on their estimated fair values. We record the excess of purchase price over the aggregate fair 
values as goodwill. We engage third-party appraisal firms to assist us in determining the fair values of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These valuations require us to make significant estimates and 
assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Critical estimates in valuing purchased 
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technology, customer lists and other identifiable intangible assets include future cash flows that we expect 
to generate from the acquired assets. If the subsequent actual results and updated projections of the 
underlying business activity change compared with the assumptions and projections used to develop 
these values, we could experience impairment charges. In addition, we have estimated the economic lives 
of certain acquired assets and these lives are used to calculate depreciation and amortization expense. If 
our estimates of the economic lives change, depreciation or amortization expenses could be accelerated 
or slowed.  
  
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:  We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level at least 
annually and more frequently upon the occurrence of certain events. For purposes of testing for goodwill 
impairment, we have determined that we have one reporting unit for goodwill impairment review purposes, 
consisting of our HDD Systems division. We test goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth fiscal 
quarter using a two-step process. First, we determine if the carrying amount of any of the reporting units 
exceeds its fair value. We use a discounted cash flow method to make this determination. If this method 
indicates a potential impairment of goodwill, we then compare the implied fair value of the goodwill 
associated with the respective reporting unit to its carrying amount to determine if there is an impairment 
loss. We performed this annual impairment test for goodwill during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 and 
concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill.  
  
We evaluate long-lived assets, including intangible assets other than goodwill, for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. 
An impairment is considered to exist if the total estimated future cash flows on an undiscounted basis are 
less than the carrying amount of the assets. If an impairment does exist, we measure the impairment loss 
and record it based on discounted estimated future cash flows. In estimating future cash flows, we group 
assets at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of cash 
flows from other asset groups. Our estimate of future cash flows is based upon, among other things, 
certain assumptions about expected future operating performance, growth rates and other factors.  
  
Although we believe the assumptions and estimates we have made in the past have been reasonable and 
appropriate, different assumptions and estimates could materially impact our reported financial results. 
More conservative estimates of the anticipated future benefits from these businesses could result in 
impairment charges, which would increase net loss and result in lower asset values on our balance sheet. 

 
Stock-Based Compensation Expense:  We account for share-based compensation using fair value 
recognition and record stock-based compensation as a charge to earnings net of the estimated impact of 
forfeited awards. As such, we recognize stock-based compensation cost only for those stock-based 
awards that are estimated to ultimately vest over their requisite service period, based on the vesting 
provisions of the individual grants.  
  
The process of estimating the fair value of stock-based compensation awards and recognizing stock-
based compensation cost over their requisite service period involves significant assumptions and 
judgments. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards on the date of grant using a Monte Carlo 
univariate pricing model for awards with market conditions and the Black-Scholes option-valuation model 
for the remaining awards which requires that we make certain assumptions regarding: (i) the expected 
volatility in the market price of our Common Stock; (ii) dividend yield; (iii) risk-free interest rates; and 
(iv) the period of time employees are expected to hold the award prior to exercise (referred to as the 
expected holding period).  As a result, if we revise our assumptions and estimates, our stock-based 
compensation expense could change materially for future grants.  
  
Legal and Other Contingencies:  We are subject to various claims and legal proceedings. Each year, we 
review the status of each significant legal dispute to which we are a party and assess our potential 
financial exposure, if any. If the potential financial exposure from any claim or legal proceeding is 
considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, we record a liability and an expense 
for the estimated loss. Significant judgment is required in both the determination of probability and the 
determination as to whether an exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of uncertainties related to 
these matters, accruals are based only on the best information available at the time. As additional 
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information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to our pending claims and 
litigation and revise our estimates accordingly. Such revisions in the estimates of the potential liabilities 
could have a material impact on our results of operations and financial position.  
 
Revenue  
  
The table below and the discussion that follows are based upon the way we analyze our business. See 
Note 19 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about division segments.  
 

  
2009 

 % of 
Net Sales 

  
2008 

 % of 
Net Sales 

  
$ Change 

  
% Change 

 (Dollars in millions) 
HDD Systems........................... $ 25.9  51%  $ 27.1  52%  $ (1.2) (4)% 
Catalyst.....................................  25.1  50%   26.3  50%  (1.2) (5)% 
Intercompany revenue.............. (0.5)  (1)%  (0.8)  (2)%  0.3 NM 

 Total sales ......................... $ 50.5    $ 52.6    $ (2.1) (4)% 
 
Fiscal 2009 Compared with Fiscal 2008:  Net revenues for fiscal 2009 decreased by $2.1 million, or 4%, 
to $50.5 million from $52.6 million for fiscal 2008.  
 
Revenues for the HDD Systems division for fiscal 2009 decreased $1.2 million, or 4%, to $25.9 million, 
from $27.1 million for fiscal 2008. During the first half of 2009, this division was adversely affected by the 
global economic crisis and the related budget crisis in California.  However, with a broad CARB and EPA 
verified product portfolio we benefited from increased California funding and spending for diesel emissions 
control under the American Reconstruction and Recovery Act 2009 (the stimulus bill) during the second 
half of the year.  In addition, sales in this division were positively impacted during the second half due to 
an expansion of our distribution channel in the U.S. in the latter part of 2008 and the first half of 2009.  We 
expect the benefits from increased U.S. government funding and our expanded distribution capacity to 
continue in 2010. 
 
Revenues for the Catalyst division for fiscal 2009 decreased $1.2 million, or 5%, to $25.1 million, from 
$26.3 million for fiscal 2008. The significant decline in worldwide auto sales affected this division 
adversely; however, the full year impact of sales to customers acquired in the latter part of 2008 helped to 
partially off-set this decline.  In addition, for fiscal 2009, the division recorded intercompany sales of $0.5 
million, compared to $0.8 million in fiscal 2008. This decrease resulted from lower sales to the Energy 
Systems division which was sold in October 2009. Intercompany sales by Catalyst division to our HDD 
Systems division are eliminated in consolidation.  
 
Gross Profit  
 

  
2009 

 % of 
Net Sales 

  
2008 

 % of 
Net Sales 

 (Dollars in millions) 
HDD Systems....................................................... $ 8.2  31.7%  $ 8.0  29.5% 
Catalyst.................................................................  3.8  15.0%  0.2  0.8% 

 Total gross profit........................................... $ 12.0  23.7%  $ 8.2  15.6% 

 
Fiscal 2009 Compared with Fiscal 2008:  Gross profit increased by $3.8 million, or 46%, to $12.0 million 
for fiscal 2009, from $8.2 million for fiscal 2008. The gross margin increased to 23.7% in fiscal 2009 from 
15.6% in fiscal 2008 despite the decrease in sales. The increase in gross profit is primarily a result of 
manufacturing overhead cost reductions in the Catalyst division and changes in the mix of product sold by 
the HDD Systems division, partially offset by lower gross profit from lower sales volumes. 
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Operating Expenses  
 

  
2009 

 % of 
Net Sales 

  
2008 

 % of 
Net Sales 

  
$ Change 

  
% Change 

 (Dollars in millions) 
Sales and marketing ................. $ 3.6  7.1%  $ 5.2  9.9%  $ (1.6) (31)% 
Research and development.......  7.3  14.5%  8.9  16.9%  (1.6) (18)% 
General and administrative....... 8.9  17.6%  10.6  20.2%  (1.7) (16)% 
Gain on sale of intellectual 

property ................................ (2.5)  (4.9)%  (5.0)  (9.5)%  2.5 (50)% 
Impairment, severance and 

other charges......................... 2.7  5.3%  5.2  9.9%  (2.5) (48)% 

 Total operating expenses .. $ 20.0  39.6%  $ 24.9  47.3%  $ (4.9) (20)% 
 
Sales and Marketing  
  
Fiscal 2009 Compared with Fiscal 2008:  Sales and Marketing expenses consisted primarily of 
compensation paid to sales and marketing personnel, and marketing expenses. For fiscal 2009, sales and 
marketing expenses decreased by $1.6 million, or 31%, to $3.6 million, from $5.2 million for fiscal 2008. 
This reduction in spending was a direct result of our ongoing cost containment initiatives and restructuring 
activities in the Catalyst division.  These cost reduction activities were a result of refocusing our Catalyst 
division marketing strategy to heavy duty diesel sales and limiting light duty vehicle marketing efforts to 
existing customers and select new customers.  Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of sales 
decreased to 7.1% in fiscal 2009 as compared to 9.9% in fiscal 2008, despite the 4% sales decrease.  
  
Research and Development  
  
Our Catalyst and HDD Systems divisions have historically invested substantial amounts in research and 
development.  Our research and development activities in the Catalyst division have been aligned with our 
strategy to focus on heavy duty diesel catalysts and existing and selected new light duty vehicle 
customers.  In addition, as a result of bringing a substantial part of our testing requirements in house, we 
have reduced our costs and increased our ability to optimize use of limited resources. In the HDD Systems 
division, we intend to continue to invest in development activities in future years, although specific 
programs may or may not continue to be funded and funding levels may fluctuate.  
  
Fiscal 2009 Compared with Fiscal 2008:  Research and development expenses included research 
related to new product development and product enhancement expenditures. For fiscal 2009, such 
expenses decreased by $1.6 million, or 18%, to $7.3 million from $8.9 million for fiscal 2008. As a 
percentage of revenues, research and development expenses were 14.5% in fiscal 2009, compared to 
16.9% in fiscal 2008. The decrease in research and development expenses was primarily attributable to 
cost reduction efforts in our Catalyst division.  
 
General and Administrative 
   
Fiscal 2009 Compared with Fiscal 2008:  General and administrative expenses consisted primarily of 
compensation paid to administrative personnel, legal and professional fees, corporate expenses and 
regulatory and other administrative expenses. For fiscal 2009, general and administrative expenses 
decreased by $1.7 million, or 16%, to $8.9 million, from $10.6 million for fiscal 2008. This reduction in 
spending was a result of our ongoing cost containment initiatives and restructuring activities in the Catalyst 
division and corporate expense reductions.  General and administrative expenses as a percentage of 
sales decreased to 17.6% in fiscal 2009 as compared to 20.2% in fiscal 2008, despite the 4% sales 
decrease. 
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Impairment, Severance and Other Charges  
  
Beginning in fiscal 2008 and continuing through fiscal 2009, we initiated a series of restructuring activities 
as a result of a strategic review of our Catalyst division. These activities included reducing excess 
workforce and capacity, consolidating certain functions, focusing our marketing and product development 
strategies around heavy duty diesel catalysts and existing and selected new customers in the light duty 
vehicle market.  The overall objectives of the restructuring activities were to lower costs and position the 
Catalyst division to break even at lower sales and to make this division profitable. To date, these efforts 
have helped enhance our ability to reduce operating losses, retain and expand existing relationships with 
existing customers and attract new business. The benefits of this cost reduction were realized partially in 
fiscal 2009 and the full effect of actions taken during 2009 is expected to be realized in fiscal 2010. 
Additionally, we may utilize similar measures in the future to realign our operations to further increase our 
operating efficiencies, which may materially affect our future operating results. In addition, other charges 
include fees payable to advisors hired to assist us in our strategic review and our efforts to recapitalize the 
company. 
 
Fiscal 2009 Compared with Fiscal 2008:  During fiscal 2009, we incurred $2.7 million of severance and 
recapitalization charges. These charges primarily included charges for severance payments for headcount 
reduction and fees for strategic advisors.  In 2008, in concert with our strategic review, we assessed the 
carrying value of our fixed assets in the Catalyst division and recorded an impairment charge of $4.9 
million. 
 
Gain on Sale of Intellectual Property  
  
As a result of the transaction with our Asian joint venture partner TKK, we sold certain intellectual property 
for use in the joint venture territory for $7.5 million in fiscal 2008.  A gain of $5.0 million was recognized in 
2008 and a gain of $2.5 million was recognized in fiscal 2009 after certain registration conditions for the 
property were satisfied. 
  
Other Income and Expenses  
 

  
2009 

 % of 
Net Sales 

  
2008 

 % of 
Net Sales 

 (Dollars in millions) 
Interest income..................................................... $ -  -  $ 0.3  0.6% 
Interest expense.................................................... (2.3)  (4.6)%  (2.2)  (4.2)% 
Other income (expense) ....................................... (0.3)  (0.5)%  (0.7)  (1.3)% 

 Total non-operating income (expense) ......... $ (2.6)  (5.1)%  $ (2.6)  (4.9)% 
 
Interest Income and Expense   
 
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008:  In fiscal 2009, we incurred interest expense of $2.3 million, 
compared to $2.2 million in fiscal 2008.  In fiscal 2009 we recognized deferred financing charges of 
approximately $0.3 million associated with a term loan of $3.5 million which was repaid in October 2009, 
approximately 39 months before the due date of the loan.  These charges were paid at the time of the 
origination of the loan and were deferred over the life of the loan. Excluding the deferred financing 
charges, interest expense decreased in 2009 compared to 2008.  This decrease was attributable to the 
reduction of $9.7 million of debt in fiscal 2009.  In fiscal 2009 we earned $18,000 of interest compared to 
$266,000 in fiscal 2008.   
 
Other Income (expense) 
 
In fiscal 2009 our share of the TCC net loss was $1.3 million offset by a gain on the reduction in liability to 
fund TCC of $1.1 million for a net of $216,000 compared to $988,000 in 2008.  In addition, the Company 
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recorded other expense of $75,000 for 2009 and a gain of $345,000 in 2008 relating to currency 
transaction and gains (loss) on sale of other assets. 
 
Income Taxes  
  
Our income tax expense is dependent on the profitability of our various international subsidiaries including 
in Canada and Sweden.  These subsidiaries are subject to income taxation based on local tax laws in 
these countries.  Our U.S. operations have continually incurred losses since inception.   
 
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008:  For continuing operations in fiscal 2009, we had an income tax 
benefit of $1.0 million, compared to income tax expense of $0.6 million for fiscal 2008. This decrease in 
taxes was a result of a tax benefit generated in continuing operations as a result of tax expense on the 
gain on sale of the assets in discontinued operations and a decline in taxable income in Sweden. 
  
Discontinued Operations 
  
In fiscal 2009, the Company recorded net income from discontinued operations of $1.5 million, including a 
pre-tax gain on disposal of $3.7 million, compared to a net loss of $0.9 million in 2008. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 
Since the second half of 2008, our working capital has been severely limited.  During 2009 we have taken 
several actions to improve our liquidity.  These actions have included: (i) reduction in cash used in 
operations through cost reductions and improved working capital management; (ii) sale of assets including 
the sale of the assets of Applied Utility Systems and sale of intellectual property; and (iii) repayment of 
debt.  However, at 31 December 2009 the Company had $2.3 million in cash. Our access to working 
capital continues to be limited and our debt service obligations and projected operating costs for 2010 
exceed our cash balance as of 31 December 2009. 
 
On 31 March 2009, the Company failed to achieve two of the covenants under the bank loan agreement 
with Fifth Third Bank (see Note 8 in the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Fifth 
Third Bank loan agreement).  The covenants that the Company failed to achieve are those related to the 
annualized EBITDA and the funded debt to EBITDA ratio for the Engine Control Systems subsidiary.  The 
bank has periodically agreed to temporary suspensions of its rights with respect to the breach of these two 
covenants.  We are currently in discussion with the bank regarding an extension to the forbearance which 
ended on 30 April 2010 and we will make an announcement once these discussions are finalized.  The 
bank’s forbearance is subject to the Company, in Fifth Third Bank’s opinion, making reasonably 
satisfactory progress in its efforts to recapitalize its balance sheet and the provision of an audit report on 
the collateral pledged by the Company to Fifth Third Bank.  The audit was completed in December 2009 
and no issues were identified. 
 
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended 31 December, 2008 and 2009: 
  

  
2009 

  
2008 

  
$ Change 

  
% Change 

 (Dollars in millions) 
Cash provided by (used in):       

Operating activities................................................... $ (7.4)  $ (15.1)  $ 7.7 (51)% 
Investing activities....................................................  13.4  3.6  9.8 272% 
Financing activities...................................................  (10.5)  2.0  (12.5) NM 

 
Cash Used in Operating Activities 
  
Cash flows from operating activities can fluctuate significantly from period to period as net loss and other 
items can significantly impact cash flows. Our largest source of operating cash flows is cash collections 
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from our customers following the sale of our products and services. Our primary uses of cash for operating 
activities are for purchasing inventory in support of the products that we sell, personnel related 
expenditures, facilities costs and payments for general operating matters. 
 
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008:  Cash used in operating activities in fiscal 2009 was $7.4 million, 
a decrease of $7.7 million from fiscal 2008, when our operating activities used $15.1 million of cash. This 
improvement was partially due to a $4.2 million decrease in net loss in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 
2008, after giving consideration to non-cash operating items, including depreciation and amortization, 
stock-based compensation, deferred taxes, provisions for losses on accounts receivable, gain on sale of 
intellectual property, among others for both periods and impairment charges in 2008. The reduction in net 
loss was in part driven by the cost reduction actions already discussed.  The improvement in cash used in 
operating activities was also due to increased emphasis on better working capital management during 
fiscal 2009, resulting in a $2.6 million reduction in the change in net working capital.  There was reduction 
in cash used due to the change in inventories of $2.4 million driven by a focus on lean manufacturing 
techniques in our HDD Systems division and improved inventory management in the Catalyst division.  
There was an increase in cash used due to the change in accounts receivables due primarily to significant 
revenues in the fourth quarter of 2009 in the HDD Systems Division.  This increase in the change in 
receivables was partially offset by an increase in the changes in accounts payable and accrued expenses, 
as material purchases and other operating costs grew in the fourth quarter, driven by the revenue growth.  
Cash provided from operating activities associated with discontinued operations increased to $0.2 million 
in 2009 compared to usage of $0.9 million in 2008. 
   
Cash Provided by Investing Activities  
  
The changes in cash flows from investing activities primarily relate to asset sales and acquisitions, 
investment in our joint venture as well as capital expenditures and other assets to support our growth 
plans.  
  
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008:  Net cash generated by investing activities was $13.4 million in 
fiscal 2009, an increase of $9.8 million as compared to the $3.6 million generated by investing activities in 
fiscal 2008. In fiscal 2009, the primary investing activities included $8.6 million of proceeds from the sale 
of the assets of Applied Utility Systems and $5.4 million of proceeds from the sale of intellectual property 
and a share in the joint venture to our joint venture partner TKK.  This compared to $4.0 million of 
proceeds from the sale of intellectual property and a share in the joint venture and $1.7 million in proceeds 
from the sale of an office building in 2008.  Cash used in investing in our investment in the TCC joint 
venture decreased by $1.0 million.  In 2008 we made our initial capital contribution and there were no 
capital calls in 2009.  Also, in fiscal 2009 we reduced capital expenditure by $1.3 million to $0.6 million 
compared to $1.9 million in 2008.  We expect 2010 to have a similar level of capital expense as 2009. 
 
Cash Provided by (used in) Financing Activities  
  
Under the terms of our loan agreement with Fifth Third Bank, our Engine Control Systems subsidiary is 
restricted from making any distributions to the parent company other than those for arms length 
transactions and management fees up to $250,000.  Our loan agreement with Fifth Third Bank is 
discussed in Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Since the inception of the Company, we 
have financed our net operating cash usage through a combination of financing activities such as issuance 
of equity or debt and investing activities such as sale of intellectual property or other assets.  
  
The changes in cash flows from financing activities primarily relate to borrowings and payments under 
debt obligations.  
  
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008:   Net cash used in financing activities was $10.5 million in fiscal 
2009, a $12.5 million decrease as compared to net cash provided by financing activity of $2.0 million in 
fiscal 2008. During fiscal 2009, we reduced $9.7 million in secured debt, including $6.8 million in fixed term 
loans and reduced borrowing under a line of credit by $2.9 million.  This compares to a net increase in 
borrowing of $2.7 million in 2008, including a new secured loan of $3.3 million which was repaid in 2009, 
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an increase of $1.7 million in borrowings under our line of credit, partially offset by the repayment of a 
fixed term loan of $2.3 million.  In addition, in 2008 we incurred $0.7 million in debt issuance costs for debt 
issued in 2007 in connection with the acquisition of Engine Control Systems.  The difference between the 
$10.5 million of cash used and the $9.7 million of debt reduced in 2009 was a result of exchange rate 
movement between the Canadian and U.S. dollar. 
 
BORROWINGS  
  
We maintain a credit agreement with Fifth Third Bank. As at 31 December 2009, the credit agreement 
consists of a Canadian $7.5 million demand revolving credit facility. Borrowings under the agreement bear 
interest at either (i) the U.S. Prime rate plus 2.00% for borrowings in U.S. dollars or (ii) the Canadian prime 
rate plus 2.00% for borrowings in Canadian dollars.  As of 31 December 2009, the interest rates were 
increased to U.S. Prime plus 2.75% for U.S. dollar borrowings and to Canadian Prime plus 2.75% for 
Canadian dollar borrowings. 
 
In June 2008, we put in place a debt facility with Cycad Group, LLC that would allow a one-time draw 
down of up to $3.3 million. In September 2008, the Company borrowed $3.3 million under the debt facility.  
The debt was collateralized by the accounts receivable at Applied Utility Systems and the machinery and 
equipment of the Catalyst division. The debt was due on 1 July 2009 and interest was paid at 18%.  The 
Company was in default as of the due date and repaid the loan in October 2009. 
 
In December 2007, the Company and its subsidiaries including Engine Control Systems entered into 
borrowing agreements with Fifth Third Bank as part of the cash consideration paid for the purchase of 
Engine Control Systems on 20 December 2007.  The borrowing agreements provided for three facilities 
including a revolving line of credit and two term loans.  The line of credit was a two-year revolving term 
operating loan up to a maximum principal amount of $8.2 million (Canadian $10 million), with availability 
based upon eligible accounts receivable and inventory.  At 31 December 2008, the outstanding balance 
was $8.1 million, in excess of the Company’s borrowing capacity by $1.6 million.  Pay-down against the 
line in February 2009 returned the Company’s borrowings to be within its capacity.  The other facilities 
included a five-year non-revolving term loan of up to $2.5 million, which was paid off during 2008, and a 
non-revolving term loan of $3.5 million which was paid off in October 2009.  Total borrowing on the 
facilities as of 31 December 2009 was $5.1 million.  The loans are collateralized by the assets of the 
Company.  The interest rate on the line of credit is variable based upon the U.S. Prime Rate and the 
Canadian Prime Rate.  
 
The Company was also subject to covenants on minimum levels of tangible capital funds, fixed charge 
coverage, earnings before income tax, depreciation and amortization, funded debt-to-earnings before 
income tax and depreciation and amortization.  In the event of default, the bank may demand payment on 
all amounts outstanding immediately.  The Company is also restricted from receiving distributions in 
excess of $250,000 from its subsidiary Engine Control Systems.  The loan agreement also includes a 
material adverse change clause, exercisable if, in the opinion of the bank, there is a material adverse 
change in the financial condition, ownership or operation of Engine Control Systems or the Company.  If 
the bank deems that a material adverse change has occurred, the bank may terminate the Company’s 
right to borrow under the agreement and demand payment of all amounts outstanding under the 
agreement.  As of 31 March 2009, the Company had failed to achieve two of the covenants under the 
bank loan agreement with Fifth Third Bank.  The covenants that the Company failed to achieve are those 
related to the annualized EBITDA and the funded debt to EBITDA ratio for the Engine Control Systems 
subsidiary.  The bank agreed to temporarily suspend its rights until 1 July 2009 subject to the Company, in 
Fifth Third Bank’s opinion, making reasonably satisfactory progress in its efforts to recapitalize its balance 
sheet and the provision of an audit report on the collateral pledged by the Company to Fifth Third Bank.  In 
July 2009, the bank extended its forbearance until 30 September 2009, subject to similar terms.  In 
October 2009, on the repayment of the term loan of $3.5 million, the bank extended its forbearance until 
31 January 2010, converted the revolving line to a demand facility, reduced the credit limit to Canadian 
$8.5 million and raised the interest charged to Prime plus 2.5%.  In January 2010, the bank further 
extended forbearance until 30 April 2010 and further reduced the credit limit to Canadian $7.5 million with 
a Canadian $100,000 reduction per month for the forbearance period.  The interest rate was further 



 18

increased to Prime plus 2.75%.  We are currently in discussion with the bank regarding an extension to 
the forbearance and we will make an announcement once these discussions are finalized.  
 
The Company has $3.0 million of consideration due to the seller as part of the Applied Utility Systems 
acquisition.  The consideration was due 28 August 2009 and accrues interest at 5.36%.  At 31 December 
2009, the Company had accrued $538,000 of unpaid interest. The Company has claimed that the seller 
breached the asset purchase agreement in addition to certain other related agreements and has withheld 
payments pending the resolution of arbitration proceedings.  A detailed discussion is provided in Note 18 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption Legal Proceedings. 
 
Borrowings at 31 December 2009 and 2008 are summarized as follows: 
 
 2009  2008 
 US $000  US $000 
Line of credit ....................................................................................................................... 5,147  8,068 
Consideration payable......................................................................................................... 3,000  3,000 
Term loans........................................................................................................................... -  3,500 
Cycad debt facility .............................................................................................................. -  3,300 
Capital lease obligations ..................................................................................................... 75  45 

Total borrowings............................................................................................. 8,222  17,913 
 
We have suffered recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception of the 
Company, resulting in an accumulated deficit of $149.3 million at 31 December 2009.  In addition, due to 
non-compliance with the above-mentioned loan covenants and per the repayment obligations under the 
Company’s loan forbearance agreements, the total debt of the Company has been classified as current 
and due and payable in 2010. As a result of this classification, the Company has a working capital deficit 
of $4.4 million.  Failure to recapitalize or to renegotiate payment terms for debt due will result in the 
Company not having sufficient cash to operate. 
 
These matters raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In 
order to address this uncertainty, in the first quarter of 2009, the Company retained a U.S.-based 
investment banking firm to act as a financial advisor to the Company in exploring alternatives to 
recapitalize the Company.  Alternatives under consideration include the sale of Company stock and/or a 
sale of the Company’s assets.  At this time the Company cannot provide any assurances that it will be 
successful in its continuing efforts to recapitalize the balance sheet or work with its lenders on loan 
modifications. In the event that the Company is not successful in the immediate future, the Company will 
be unable to continue operations and may be required to file bankruptcy.  There can be no assurances 
that the Company will be able to reorganize through bankruptcy, and might be forced to effect a liquidation 
of its assets. 
 
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
In the opinion of management, with the exception of exposure to the foreign exchange risk and 
Commodity Risk described below, we are not subject to any significant market risk exposure.   
 
Foreign Currency Risk:  Our results of operations are subject to both currency transaction risk and 
currency translation risk.  We incur currency transaction risk when we enter into either a purchase or sale 
transaction using a currency other than our functional currency of our operating Companies, which are the 
U.S. Dollar, Canadian Dollar and Swedish Kroner.  We do not use any hedging or derivative contracts to 
manage this risk.  Due to the structure of our business, we do have some of our risk naturally hedged.  
Our Canadian operations have exposure to the U.S. Dollar due to significant amounts of the revenue 
being U.S. Dollar denominated but they also have a significant amount of their material costs denominated 
in the U.S. Dollar, mitigating that exposure.  The U.S. based operations have exposure to the Euro from 
Euro denominated customers, but that is partially mitigated by Euro denominated material costs utilized for 
those customers.  In addition, we have bank accounts denominated in Canadian Dollar, Swedish Kroner, 
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Euro, South African Rand and Japanese Yen.  At 31 December 2009 the Company held U.S. Dollar 
equivalent balance of $640,000 in Swedish Kroner, $183,000 South African Rand, and $138,000 Euro.  
The balances at 31 December 2009 in the other currencies are not significant.   
 
With respect to currency translation risk, our financial condition and results of operations are measured 
and recorded in the relevant domestic currencies (Canadian Dollar and Swedish Kroner) then translated 
into U.S. dollars for inclusion in our consolidated financial statements.  We do not use any hedging or 
derivative contracts to manage this risk as a general course of business.  We have, on an exception basis, 
utilized forward contracts to hedge known significant cross currency fund flows.   
 
Commodity Risk:  We are subject to the commodity risk of platinum group metal (PGM) prices, which are 
highly volatile and fluctuate on a daily basis based on global market conditions.  We do not use any 
hedging or derivative contracts to purchase our PGM.  For some of our major automotive OEM customers, 
the PGM is provided by our customers.  This limits the economic risks of changes in market prices to PGM 
usage in excess of nominal amounts or in parts that are scrapped.  We mitigate that via manufacturing 
process controls to limit usage in excess of nominal and by using reclaim processes to recover PGM from 
scrapped parts.  Other major automotive OEM customers require us to purchase PGM.  For those 
customers, there is a contractual mechanism to adjust the sales price to account for changes in PGM 
pricing.  This again limits the economic risks to PGM usage in excess of nominal amounts and scrap. 
However, going forward there can be no assurance that the Company will continue to be successful 
passing PGM price risk onto its current and future customers to minimize the risk of financial loss.  
Additionally, PGM material is accounted for as inventory and therefore subject to lower of cost or market 
adjustments on a regular basis at the end of accounting periods.  A drop in market prices relative to the 
purchase price of PGM could result in a write-down of inventory.   
  
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
  
In June 2008, the Company put in place a debt facility with Cycad Group, LLC (a significant shareholder of 
the Company) that would allow a one-time draw down of up to $3.3 million. To avoid any conflict of 
interest, Mr. K. Leonard Judson, officer of Cycad Group, LLC and then Non-Executive Director of the 
Company, recused himself from all Board of Directors discussions and voting pertaining to the debt 
facility.  Further details regarding the debt facility are disclosed in the long-term debt discussion in Note 8 
to the consolidated financial statements.  Mr. Judson resigned from the Board of Directors of the Company 
in January 2009.  The debt facility was repaid in full on 1 October 2009. 
 
In October 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors unanimously adopted a resolution to waive the Non-
Executive Directors’ right to receive, and the Company’s obligation to pay, any director fees with respect to 
participation in Board and Committee meetings and other matters with effect from 1 July 2008 and 
continuing thereafter until the Directors elect to adopt resolutions reinstating such fees.  On 1 May 2009, 
the Directors adopted a resolution to reinstate the accrual of director fees effective 1 January 2009, with a 
payment schedule to be determined at a later date. 
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Directors and Board Committees 
 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
 
Charles F. Call, Chief Executive Officer (Age 62) 
Mr. Call joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer and Director in November 2004. Mr. Call has over 
30 years of broad management experience encompassing sales, marketing, plant management, general 
management and executive management roles in the automotive and electronics industries. His prior 
experience includes seven years (from 1997 to 2004) at Imperial Chemical Industries as General Manager 
of the electronic materials group and later General Manager of the specialty polymers and adhesives 
group. Mr. Call also served as President of JPE Trim from 1996 to 1997, a manufacturer of automotive 
exterior trim products supplying the major automotive companies. Before JPE, he served as President of 
Dexter Automotive Materials, a supplier of coatings, adhesives and acoustical materials to the major 
automotive companies. Mr. Call received a BS degree from Rochester Institute of Technology, New York. 
 
Nikhil A. Mehta, Chief Financial Officer (Age 53) 
Mr. Mehta joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer in July 2008 and was appointed Director in 
August 2008. Mr. Mehta has more than 25 years of financial management experience in high technology 
and medical technology companies. His experience includes significant operational finance management 
in manufacturing companies, fund raising, several acquisitions and experience as Chief Financial Officer 
for companies listed on Nasdaq as well as AIM in London. Prior to joining Catalytic Solutions, from 2002 to 
2008, he was Chief Financial Officer of Spacelabs Healthcare, Inc., a medical technology company, and 
Vice President of Corporate Development for Spacelabs’ parent company OSI Systems, Inc., where he 
participated in or led 10 acquisitions and the IPO of Spacelabs on AIM. From 2000 to 2002, Mr. Mehta 
was Chief Financial Officer of Advanced Tissue Sciences, Inc., a Nasdaq-listed biotechnology company, 
and spent over 15 years in several financial positions with Xerox Corporation. Mr. Mehta received an MBA 
degree from The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania and Bachelor of Commerce from Bombay 
University. 
 
Stephen J. Golden, Ph.D., Chief Technology Officer (Age 48) 
Dr. Golden is the Chief Technology Officer of the Company and has been a Director since 1996.  He is a 
co-founder of the Company and the developer of its technology. From 1994 to late 1995, he was the 
Research Director for Dreisbach Electromotive Incorporated, a developer of advanced batteries based in 
Santa Barbara, California. Dr. Golden received his doctorate in Material Science at Imperial College of 
Science and Technology in London, England. He did extensive post-doctoral work at the University of 
California, Santa Barbara, and the University of Queensland, Australia in ceramic oxide and mixed metal 
oxide materials.  
 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
 
Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III, Non-Executive Chairman (Age 61) 
Mr. Ellis has been a Director of the Company since June 2003, and was elected Chairman in December 
2004. Mr. Ellis has extensive operating experience in electric power and renewable energy. He is a 
General Partner of RockPort Capital Partners LLC, a leading venture capital firm that partners with clean 
tech entrepreneurs around the world. He has been a general partner in RockPort Capital since its 
inception.  He has primarily focused on renewables, electric grid technologies, advanced materials and 
transportation and emission control technologies.  Prior to the formation of RockPort’s first fund, he joined 
RockPort Partners, a merchant bank specializing in energy and environmental projects in 1998.  In 
addition to Catalytic Solutions, Inc., Mr. Ellis serves on the boards of Deerpath Energy, EKA Systems, Inc. 
(owned by Cooper Industries plc – NYSE:CBE), ISE Corporation, Northern Power Systems, Powerspan 
Corp., Second Rotation, Inc., Southwest Windpower and William Gallagher Associates.  In addition, he 
represented RockPort on the board of Comverge, Inc. (Nasdaq:COMV) from October 2004 to August 2007 
and was a Director for PPT Research, Inc. from June 2006 to September 2009.  Mr. Ellis received a BA 
degree from Colorado College and an MBA from the Yale School of Management. 
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Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry, Non-Executive Director (Age 70) 
Mr. Cherry joined the Company as a Director in January 2008. Mr. Cherry is the Principal Founder and 
Chief Executive Officer of Energy 5.0 LLC, a privately held energy solutions company established in 
November 2006, that develops, finances, constructs and operates complex renewable energy production 
facilities.  He has over 40 years’ experience in the energy sector.  Mr. Cherry served as Executive Vice 
Chairman of the Board of Northern Power Systems, Inc., a wind energy company, from August 2008 to 
July 2009 and Chief Executive Officer from August 2008 to December 2008. In February 2007, Mr. Cherry 
joined the Board of Directors for Distributed Energy Systems Corporation (Nasdaq:DESC), a renewable 
energy generation and technology equipment manufacturer, and became Chairman of the Board in August 
2007.  In October 2007, Mr. Cherry was named Chief Executive Officer and served until August 2008 at 
which time he also left the Board.  Prior to that, Mr. Cherry was Chief Executive Officer of the Foster 
Wheeler Global Power Group, one of the two major business groups of Foster Wheeler Limited 
(Nasdaq:FWLT), a provider of construction and engineering services, from November 2002 until June 
2006.  Prior to his tenure at Foster Wheeler, Mr. Cherry was a member of the senior management team of 
the Oxbow Group for 17 years. Mr. Cherry was the President and Chief Operating Officer of the Oxbow 
Energy and Minerals Group and played a key leadership role in the creation and growth of Oxbow's global 
energy activities.  Mr. Cherry began his career as a Nuclear Engineer at United Nuclear Corporation 
(UNC) and holds a BS degree in Chemistry and MS degree in Nuclear Engineering, both earned at the 
University of Illinois. 
 
Charles R. Engles, Ph.D., Non-Executive Director (Age 62) 
Dr. Engles has been a Director of the Company since January 2000. He has a total of 14 years of 
experience serving as a board member for U.S. public companies and has also been a board member of 
seven private companies. In 2008, Dr. Engles served as Interim Chief Executive Officer of 
ThermoCeramix, Inc., an advanced materials company focused on electrical to thermal energy 
conversion.  From 1997 to 2008, Dr. Engles served as Chief Executive Officer of Cutanix Corporation, a 
biopharmaceutical company focused on dermatological drug discovery that he co-founded.  From 1994 to 
1997, he served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Stillwater Mining Company (Stillwater) and, 
under his direction it completed an IPO on NASDAQ in 1994. In 1992, he organized the spin out from 
Johns-Manville Corporation and Chevron Corporation of Stillwater, the only U.S. producer of platinum 
group metals. From 1989 until 1994, Dr. Engles served as Senior Vice President of Johns-Manville 
Corporation responsible for corporate development and worldwide mining and minerals operations.  Dr. 
Engles holds a Ph.D. from Stanford University in operations research and attended Oxford University as a 
Rhodes Scholar.  
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
In June 2006, the Financial Reporting Council published the Principles of Good Governance and the Code 
of Best Practice (“the Combined Code”). 
 
Since admission to AIM, Catalytic Solutions has taken note of the Combined Code and has applied its 
principles of corporate governance commensurate with the Company’s size, stage of development and 
resources and taking into account that Catalytic Solutions is incorporated in the U.S. rather than the U.K., 
notwithstanding that the rules of the London Stock Exchange do not require companies that have 
securities traded on AIM to formally comply with the Combined Code.  The Board is accountable to the 
Company's Shareholders for good governance and the statement set out below describes how the 
principles identified in the Combined Code are applied.   
 
BOARD COMPOSITION 
 
The Bylaws require the Company to have between five and nine Directors, and provide that each 
Director’s term will continue until the next Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.  Vacancies in the 
Board may be filled by a majority of the remaining Directors, though less than a quorum, or by a sole 
remaining Director; provided, however, that a vacancy created by the removal of a Director by the vote or 
written consent of the Shareholders or by court order may be filled only by a vote of the Shareholders. The 
Board is currently comprised of a Non-Executive Chairman, three Executive Directors, and two Non-
Executive Directors.  The Board has identified that Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III, due to his interest in the 
shareholding of RockPort Capital Partners LLC is not considered to be independent for the purposes of 
the Combined Code.  Notwithstanding his interest in common stock and Dr. Engles’ engagement as a paid 
consultant by Catalytic Solutions in relation to the preparation of the AIM admission document in 2006, the 
Board has identified that Dr. Engles and Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry should be considered independent for 
the purposes of the Combined Code.  The Company recognizes and understands investor concerns over 
longer-serving Non-Executive Directors but nevertheless continues to regard Dr. Engles as independent.  
Dr. Engles’ ten-year association with the Company enables him to provide a robust and effective 
challenge to management because of the sound and detailed knowledge of the Company’s business that 
he has developed.  The Board believes that Dr. Engles’ length of service enhances his effectiveness as a 
Non-Executive Director and that he remains independent in character and judgement. Biographies of the 
Board members begin on page 20 of this document.                              
 
Any Director may resign effective upon giving written notice to the Chairman of the Board, the President, 
the Secretary, or the Board, unless the notice specifies a later time for that resignation to become 
effective.  If a Director’s notice of resignation specifies a later effective date, the Board may elect a 
successor to take office when the resignation becomes effective. 
 
In January 2009, Mr. K. Leonard Judson resigned as a Non-Executive Director of the Company, due to his 
affiliation with Cycad Group, LLC and the Company’s borrowing transaction with Cycad (see Note 8 in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the Company’s borrowing from Cycad). 
 
The Board has agreed not to appoint a Senior Independent Director.  Given the size of the organisation 
and the policy of active dialogue maintained with institutional shareholders by senior management, the 
Board is of the opinion that the appointment of a Senior Independent Director would not assist further in 
communication with shareholders. 
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BOARD COMMITTEES 
 
The principal standing committees appointed by the Board are as follows: 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the quality of internal control, ensuring that the financial 
performance of the Company is properly measured and reported on and for reviewing reports from the 
Company’s auditors relating to the Company’s accounting and internal controls. Appointments to the Audit 
Committee shall be for a period of up to three years, which may be extended for one further period of up to 
three years, provided the Director remains independent.  Only members of the Audit Committee have the 
right to attend Audit Committee meetings.  However, other individuals such as the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer, other Directors, the heads of risk, compliance and internal audit and 
representatives from the finance function may be invited to attend all or part of any meeting as and when 
appropriate. The external auditor will be invited to attend meetings of the Audit Committee on a regular 
basis.  Meetings of the Audit Committee are generally held four times per year in conjunction with 
scheduled board meetings and at such other times as the Chairman of the Committee shall require to 
discuss general audit matters and the interim and full year reports and statements.  The Audit Committee 
is authorized by the Board of Directors to investigate any activity within its terms of reference. It is 
authorized to seek any information it requires from any employee and all employees will be directed by the 
Board of Directors to cooperate with any request made by the Audit Committee. Currently, the Audit 
Committee consists of Charles R. Engles, Ph.D. as Chairman, Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry and Alexander 
(“Hap”) Ellis, III.  In 2009, Charles R. Engles, Ph.D., Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry, Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III 
and K. Leonard Judson served on the Audit Committee.  
 
A copy of the terms of reference for the Audit Committee is available on the Company’s website 
(www.catalyticsolutions.com). 
 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible for determining the terms and conditions of 
service, including the remuneration and grant of options to Executive Directors under the Company’s 
share option plans and also is responsible for the identification of suitable candidates for the Board of 
Directors. Appointments to the Committee shall be for a period of up to three years, which may be 
extended for one further period of up to three years.  Only members of the Committee have the right to 
attend Committee meetings.  However, other individuals such as other Non-Executive Directors and the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and its subsidiaries may be invited to attend all or part of any 
meeting, as and when appropriate, and in any event, shall be consulted by the Committee on proposals 
relating to the remuneration of the other Executive Directors.  Meetings of the Committee are generally 
held four times per year in conjunction with scheduled board meetings and at such other times as the 
Chairman of the Committee shall require. The Committee is authorized to take such external advice as it 
shall consider appropriate to determine the remuneration, terms of service and incentives of the Executive 
Directors and such other members of the senior executive management of the Company as it is 
designated to consider.  The Committee has no authority in relation to the remuneration of the Non-
Executive Directors.  The Remuneration and Nomination Committee consists of Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry 
as Chairman, Charles R. Engles, Ph.D., and Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III, all of whom served during 2009.   
 
A copy of the terms of reference for the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is available on the 
Company’s website (www.catalyticsolutions.com). 
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WORKINGS OF THE BOARD 
 
The Board meets on a pre-scheduled basis four times each year and more frequently when business 
needs require.  Prior to each Board meeting the Directors receive comprehensive papers and reports on 
the issues to be discussed at the meeting.  The Board has a schedule of matters reserved to it for decision 
and is responsible for formulating, reviewing and approving the Company’s strategy, budgets, acquisitions, 
disposals and major items of capital expenditure. 
 
There is an agreed procedure for Directors to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at the 
Company’s expense.  This is in addition to the access which every Director has to the Company 
Secretary.  The Secretary is charged by the Board with ensuring that Board procedures are followed. 
 
To enable the Board to function effectively and allow Directors to discharge their responsibilities, full and 
timely access is given to all relevant information.  In the case of Board meetings, this consists of a 
comprehensive set of papers, including regular business progress reports and discussion documents 
regarding specific matters.  Management has the authority to make decisions regarding the day-to-day 
operations of the Company and the implementation of the direction and decisions of the Board. 
 
The Company maintains Directors and Officers liability insurance. 
 
BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE 
 
The following table shows the attendance of Directors at meetings of the Board as well as Audit and 
Remuneration Committees held during the 2009 financial year.  
 
 

Board

 
Audit 

Committee 

Remuneration and 
Nomination 
Committee

Number of meetings held 15 5 3

Executive:    
Charles F. Call  15 4* 3*
Nikhil A. Mehta 15 5* 3*
Stephen J. Golden, Ph.D.  15 1* 2*

Non-Executive:  

Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry (1) 15 5 3
Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III (2) 14 5 3
Charles R. Engles, Ph.D. (3) 15 5 3

Former Non-Executive:  

K. Leonard Judson (4) 1 - -
 
* By invitation 
 
(1) Mr. Cherry was appointed to the Board in January 2008, Remuneration and Nomination Committee in January 2009 and Audit 

Committee in March 2009. 
(2) Mr. Ellis was appointed to the Board in June 2003, Remuneration and Nomination Committee in November 2006 and Audit 

Committee in January 2009. 
(3) Dr. Engles was appointed to the Board in January 2000 and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and Audit 

Committee in November 2006. 
(4) Mr. Judson was appointed to the Board in January 2005 and the Audit Committee in November 2006. He resigned in January 2009. 
 
BOARD PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
 
The Board does not consider that at this stage of the Company’s current development there is a need to 
undertake a formal performance evaluation of the Board or its Committees; however this will continue to 
be reviewed annually. 
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RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 
 
Under the General Corporation Law of California (GCLC), each Director is required to stand for re-election 
at each Annual General Meeting of the Company. The current Directors were elected at the last Annual 
General Meeting held on 31 July 2008.  The Company anticipates holding an Annual General Meeting 
during the spring or early summer of 2010, at which meeting all of the Directors will stand for re-election.  
 
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS 
 
Executive Directors abstain from any discussion or voting at full Board meetings on Remuneration 
Committee recommendations where the recommendations have a direct bearing on their own 
remuneration package.  A statement of the Company’s remuneration policy is set out in the Remuneration 
Committee Statement on page 27 of this document.   

 
COMMUNICATION 
 
The Company places a great deal of importance on communication with its shareholders.  The Company 
is required under AIM rules to publish a half-yearly report as well as an Annual Report and Accounts.  
Both are available on the Company’s website or upon request to shareholders and other parties who have 
an interest in the Company’s performance.  Regular communication with shareholders also takes place via 
the Company website (www.catalyticsolutions.com).   
 
The Company has regular dialogue with its major shareholders and offers to provide general presentations 
after the interim and preliminary results are distributed. The Company also holds an annual shareholders’ 
meeting each year where shareholders may ask questions of the management team and hear a business 
update from the Chief Executive Officer. The Company’s last Annual General Meeting was held on 31 July 
2008. The Company anticipates holding an Annual General Meeting during the spring or early summer of 
2010. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.  
Such a system is designated to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
 
The Board has an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Company’s significant 
risks, which is regularly reviewed by the Board and has been in place for the period ended 31 December 
2009 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. 
 
The internal control procedures are delegated to Executive Directors and senior management in the 
Company operating within a clearly defined departmental structure.  The Board regularly reviews the 
internal control procedures in light of the ongoing assessment of the Company’s significant risks. 
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AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
 
The Audit Committee has sole responsibility for assessing the independence of the external auditors 
(KPMG LLP).  The Committee has had due regard to the document published in May 2003 by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales: Reviewing Auditor Independence: Guidance for Audit 
Committees.  Each year the Committee: 
 
• Seeks reassurance that the external auditors and their staff have no family, financial, employment, 

investment, or business relationship with the Company.  To this end, the Committee requires the 
external auditors and their associates to confirm this in writing, and detail the procedures which the 
auditors have carried out in order to make this confirmation. 

 
• Assesses the likely impact on the auditors' independence and objectivity before awarding them any 

contract for additional services.  It is Company policy to require Audit Committee approval for all non-
audit services provided by the independent auditors.  

 
• Assesses the independence of the auditors at each Audit Committee meeting in which the Committee 

considers the retention of or the report provided by the external auditors. 
 
 
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 3 May 2010 and signed by order of the Board. 
 

 
Bruce McRoy 
Secretary 
3 May 2010 
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Remuneration Committee Statement 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is chaired by Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry and includes 
Charles R. Engles, Ph.D. and Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III. All are Non-Executive Directors.  The Committee 
is responsible for determining the contract terms and conditions of service, including remuneration and 
other benefits to Executive Directors and for monitoring the remuneration of first-line executive 
management.  The Committee may also call on outside compensation experts as required.  The 
Committee is also responsible for the identification of suitable candidates for the Board of Directors.  
 
In 2007, the Committee consulted with Mercer and Co. (remuneration consultants) for information on 
market practice and advice on policy. In addition, the committee has also had access to advice from the 
Company’s Corporate Director of Human Resources, and the Executive Directors. None of these 
individuals participated in discussions relating to their own remuneration.  
  
REMUNERATION POLICY 
 
The objective of the Company’s remuneration policy is to attract and retain experienced and capable 
senior executives to conduct the Company’s business and to ensure that such executives are provided 
with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced performance and are, in a fair and responsible 
manner, rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of the Company.  Compensation levels 
are generally targeted at the 50th percentile of compensation paid for comparable positions in a peer group 
of companies selected on the basis of their size, industry focus and operating structure. It is also an 
objective of the remuneration policy to ensure that there is a strong link between the level of Executive 
Director’s remuneration and the performance of the Company in achieving its goals. This is accomplished 
through an annual bonus plan tied to the achievement of specific financial performance targets established 
at the beginning of each year and through the award of share options. 
 
ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION 
 
Executive Directors 
 
The principal elements of Executive Directors’ remuneration include basic salary and benefits, annual 
bonus and stock options. 
 
The Executive Directors have entered into employment agreements with the Company, details of which 
are as follows: 
 
Charles F. Call - Mr. Call’s employment agreement provides that he is appointed as Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company.  Mr. Call receives a base salary of $436,800 per annum and is entitled to 
participate in the Company’s short-term incentive program under which he may receive up to 50 percent of 
his base salary dependant upon the performance of the Company achieving financial targets and his 
achieving certain non-financial objectives and up to 100% of his base salary for exceeding financial targets 
and objectives.  Mr. Call is also entitled to participate in such stock option schemes as are operated by the 
Company from time to time.  In addition, Mr. Call is entitled to such benefits as the Company may have in 
place from time to time, including a contribution to private health, dental and eye-sight insurance cover as 
well as participation in the Company’s 401(k) plan, short and long term disability insurance cover and life 
insurance.  The employment agreement provides that the Company may initiate termination of 
employment by providing not less than six months written notice or immediately upon the Company 
making a payment in lieu of notice (except in the case for cause) and Mr. Call may at any time terminate 
his employment by resigning for good reason with not less than thirty days’ written notice. Upon such 
resignation, Mr. Call shall receive a sum equal to twelve months’ salary to be paid in equal instalments 
over a twelve month period that commences upon the latter of his termination or his execution of a 
release. Mr. Call shall also receive a pro-rated bonus for the portion of the bonus year that had expired as 
of the date his employment terminated. Mr. Call shall also continue to receive medical coverage and such 
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other health and welfare benefits in effect on his date of termination for himself, and where applicable, his 
spouse and dependents, for a period of twelve months.   
 
Nikhil A. Mehta - Mr. Mehta’s employment agreement provides that he is appointed as Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company.  Mr. Mehta receives a base salary of $275,000 per annum and is entitled to 
participate in the Company’s short-term incentive program under which he may receive up to 40 percent of 
his base salary dependant upon the performance of the Company achieving financial targets and his 
achieving certain non-financial objectives and up to 80 percent of his base salary for exceeding financial 
targets and objectives.  Mr. Mehta is also entitled to a $2,000 per month housing allowance for up to four 
years.  Mr. Mehta is also entitled to participate in such stock option schemes as are operated by the 
Company from time to time.  In addition, Mr. Mehta is entitled to such benefits as the Company may have 
in place from time to time, including a contribution to private health, dental and eye-sight insurance cover 
as well as participation in the Company’s 401(k) plan, short and long term disability insurance cover and 
life insurance.  The employment agreement provides that the Company may initiate termination of 
employment by providing not less than six months written notice or immediately upon the Company 
making a payment in lieu of notice (except in the case for cause) and Mr. Mehta may at any time terminate 
his employment by resigning for good reason with not less than thirty days’ written notice. Upon such 
resignation, Mr. Mehta shall receive a sum equal to six months’ salary to be paid in equal instalments over 
a six month period that commences upon the latter of his termination or his execution of a release. Mr. 
Mehta shall also receive a pro-rated bonus for the portion of the bonus year that had expired as of the 
date his employment terminated. Mr. Mehta shall also continue to receive medical coverage and such 
other health and welfare benefits in effect on his date of termination for himself, and where applicable, his 
spouse and dependents, for a period of six months.   
 
Stephen J. Golden, Ph.D. - Dr. Golden’s employment agreement provides that he is appointed as Chief 
Technical Officer of the Company.  Dr. Golden receives a base salary of $289,327 per annum and is 
entitled to participate in the Company’s short-term incentive program under which he may receive up to 40 
percent of his base salary dependant upon the performance of the Company achieving financial targets 
and his achieving certain non-financial objectives and up to 80 percent of his base salary for exceeding 
financial targets and objectives.  Dr. Golden is also entitled to participate in such stock option schemes as 
are operated by the Company from time to time.  In addition, Dr. Golden is entitled to such benefits as the 
Company may have in place from time to time, including a contribution to private health, dental and eye-
sight insurance cover as well as participation in the Company’s 401(k) plan, short and long term disability 
insurance cover and life insurance.  The employment agreement provides that the Company may initiate 
termination of employment by providing not less than six months written notice or immediately upon the 
Company making a payment in lieu of notice (except in the case for cause) and Dr. Golden may at any 
time terminate his employment by resigning for good reason with not less than thirty days’ written notice. 
Upon such resignation, Dr. Golden shall receive a sum equal to twenty four months’ salary to be paid in 
equal instalments over a twenty four month period that commences upon the latter of his termination or his 
execution of a release. Dr. Golden shall also receive a pro-rated bonus for the portion of the bonus year 
that had expired as of the date his employment terminated. Dr. Golden shall also continue to receive 
medical coverage and such other health and welfare benefits in effect on his date of termination for 
himself, and where applicable, his spouse and dependents, for a period of twenty four months.   
 
Non-Executive Directors 
 
Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors consists solely of fees for their services in connection with the 
Board and Board Committees other than Bernard Cherry who was also awarded equity under the 
Company’s stock option plan.  At the 15 October 2008 meeting of the Board of Directors, the Directors 
unanimously adopted a resolution to waive the Non-Executive Directors’ right to receive, and the 
Company’s obligation to pay, any directors fees with respect to participation in Board and Committee 
meetings and other matters with effect from 1 July 2008 and continuing thereafter until the Directors adopt 
resolutions reinstating directors fees.  On 1 May 2009, the Directors adopted a resolution to reinstate the 
accrual of director fees effective 1 January 2009, with a payment schedule to be determined at a later 
date.  Each of the Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company, 
details of which are as follows: 
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The following U.S. based Non-Executive Directors’ compensation is based on a fixed conversion rate of 
$1.56593 per pound sterling (GBP) for the 2010 year.  
 
Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III - Mr. Ellis has a letter of appointment which provides for him to act as a Non-
Executive Director of the Company and Chairman of the Board for a fee of ₤65,000 ($101,785) per 
annum.  Mr. Ellis is entitled to a fee of ₤5,000 ($7,830) for his role as a member of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee and an additional fee of ₤5,000 ($7,830) for his role as a member of the Audit 
Committee.  As of 31 December 2009, the amount of the fees that is accrued and unpaid for Mr. Ellis is 
$173,924. 
 
Charles R. Engles, Ph.D. - Dr. Engles has a letter of appointment which provides for him to act as a Non-
Executive Director of the Company for a fee of ₤35,000 ($54,808) per annum.  Dr. Engles is entitled to a 
fee of ₤10,000 ($15,659) for his role as Chairman of the Audit Committee and an additional fee of ₤5,000 
($7,830) for his role as a member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  In 2006 the Company 
retained Dr. Engles to assist with the Company's IPO and compensated him at the rate of $200 per 
hour for such services.  The Company has no commitment to retain or to continue to retain Dr. Engles for 
any matter or period.  As of 31 December 2009, the amount of the fees that is accrued and unpaid for Dr. 
Engles is $115,949. 

 
Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry - Mr. Cherry has a letter of appointment which provides for him to act as a 
Non-Executive Director of the Company for a fee of ₤35,000 ($54,808) per annum.  Mr. Cherry is entitled 
to a fee of ₤10,000 ($15,659) for his role as Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
and an additional fee of ₤5,000 ($7,830) for his role as a member of the Audit Committee. In 2008, Mr. 
Cherry was awarded 60,000 Common Shares under the Company’s 2006 Stock Option Plan, subject to a 
four year restricted period, during which 25% of such stock shall be released to Mr. Cherry at each 
anniversary of vesting commencement date and the remainder may not be transferred or pledged as 
collateral or otherwise encumbered until released.  As of 31 December 2009, the amount of the fees that 
is accrued and unpaid for Mr. Cherry is $115,949. 
 
Directors' remuneration 
 
The remuneration of the individual Directors who served during the year is as follows: 
  

 Base salary 
and fees

Performance- 
related bonus Other

 
Total 2009 Total 2008

Executive:      
Charles F. Call $ 436,800 nil nil $ 436,800 $ 516,776
Nikhil A. Mehta (1) $ 275,000 nil 26,000 $ 301,000 $ 136,096
Stephen J. Golden, Ph.D. $ 289,326 nil nil $ 289,326 $ 347,494

Non-Executive: (2)  

Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry $ 115,949 nil nil nil $   17,516
Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III $ 173,924 nil nil nil $ 35,032
Charles Robert Engles, Ph.D.  $ 115,949 nil nil nil $ 25,023

Former Non-Executive: (2)  

K. Leonard Judson (3) nil nil nil nil $   20,018
 
(1) Mr. Mehta’s other compensation represents a housing allowance, per the terms of his employment agreement, which he began 

to receive in October 2008. This amount includes his January 2010 allowance, which was paid in December 2009. 
(2) The Non-Executive Directors waived the right to receive any director fees effective 1 July 2008 and continuing thereafter until 

the Directors adopt a resolution reinstating them.  The compensation shown above for the Non-Executive Directors in the year 
2008 reflects compensation for the period 1 January 2008 to 30 June 2008, based on a fixed conversion rate of $2.01 per GBP 
for 2008.  The compensation shown above for the year 2009 reflects accrued but not paid compensation for the year plus three 
months consideration for the work performed without compensation during 2008, based on a fixed conversion rate of $1.86 per 
GBP for 2009. 

(3) Mr. Judson resigned from the Board In January 2009. 
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Report of the Directors for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 
 
The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2009. 
 
RESULTS  
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the Company reported revenue from continuing 
operations of $50.5 million representing a decrease of $2.1 million or 4% from the $52.6 million reported 
for 2008.  Catalyst division sales declined by 5%, as reductions in volumes due to the automobile industry 
downturn were partially offset by volumes from customers acquired in the latter part of 2008.  HDD 
Systems sales declined 4% due to the economic slowdown and delays in the California budget process. 
Gross margins from continuing operations increased from 15.6% to 23.7%, primarily as a result of 
reductions in manufacturing overheads in the Catalyst division and improved product mix in the HDD 
Systems division.  The Company reported a net loss from continuing operations of $9.5 million for 2009 
versus a net loss from continuing operations of $19.9 million for 2008.  After adjusting for the gain 
recorded on the sale of intellectual property to TKK ($2.5 million pre-tax), a charge for acceleration of 
deferred financing expenses ($0.3 million pre-tax) and expenses relating to restructuring and 
recapitalization ($2.7 million pre-tax), the adjusted net loss from continuing operations for 2009 was $9.0 
million.  The comparable adjusted net loss from continuing operations for 2008 was $20.0 million after 
adjusting for the gain recorded on sale of intellectual property to TKK ($5.0 million pre tax) and the 
impairment charge for the light duty vehicle Catalyst division ($4.9 million pre-tax).  Net loss including 
discontinued operations was $8.0 million in 2009 compared to $20.8 million in 2008. 
 
The reduction in losses in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily a result of restructuring and cost-cutting 
initiatives undertaken in the Catalyst division since September 2008.  As a result of a review of the 
Catalyst division strategy, the downturn in the automobile industry and in order to reduce cash usage, the 
Company reduced the cost structure of this division, including reductions in manufacturing overhead, 
selling, general and administrative and research and development expenses.  Actions that the Company 
believes will result in annual cost reductions of approximately $12 million were identified and implemented 
between September 2008 and December 2009.  The resultant savings began occurring in fiscal 2009 with 
full benefits expected in 2010.  These reductions were made possible through a combination of focusing 
the marketing strategy to a select light duty vehicle customer base and to heavy duty diesel catalysts, 
elimination of duplication between manufacturing and engineering functions, reduction in outside catalyst 
testing services through the successful deployment of an internally developed test bench, the installation 
of a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system in 2008 and through an aggressive program to 
manage and reduce scrap and shrinkage in the factory. 
 
The primary short term challenge facing the Company is liquidity.  At 31 December 2009, the Company 
had $2.3 million in cash. The access to working capital is limited and debt service obligations and 
operating losses for 2009 exceed current cash reserves.  During 2009, the Company sold certain assets 
and businesses and reduced $9.7 million of debt.   
 
In order to address the ability to operate as a going concern, in the first quarter of 2009 the Company 
retained a U.S.-based investment banking firm to act as a financial advisor in exploring alternatives to 
recapitalize the Company.  Alternatives under consideration include the sale of Company stock and/or a 
sale of the Company’s assets, while negotiating with its lenders to modify loan terms in order to delay 
repayments while alternative capital is secured.  The Company’s lenders have from time to time evidenced 
their willingness to cooperate with the Company as it seeks to recapitalize.  At this time the Company 
cannot provide any assurances that it will be successful in its continuing efforts to recapitalize the balance 
sheet or in its work with lenders on loan modifications. In the event that the Company is not successful in 
the immediate future, there is substantial doubt that the Company will be able to continue operations 
without filing a petition of bankruptcy.  There can be no assurances that in that event the Company would 
be able to reorganize through bankruptcy, and it might be forced to effect a liquidation of its assets. 



 

 31

The Company has suffered recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception, 
resulting in an accumulated deficit of $149.3 million at 31 December 2009.  In addition, due to non-
compliance with loan covenants and per the repayment obligations under the Company’s loan forbearance 
agreements, the total debt of the Company has been classified as current and due and payable in 2010. 
As a result of this classification, the Company has a working capital deficit of $4.4 million.  Failure to 
recapitalize or to renegotiate payment terms for debt due will result in the Company not having sufficient 
cash to operate. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES, REVIEW OF BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Details of the Company’s principal activities and a review of business and future developments are 
included in the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer's statement beginning on page 4 of this document. 
 
DIRECTORS' SHARES 
 
The Directors of the Company at the end of the year and their beneficial interests in the ordinary share 
capital of the Company and options to purchase ordinary shares of the Company were as follows.   
 
 As of 31 December 2009         As of 31 December  2008

 Shares Options Shares Options

Executive:     
Charles F. Call (1) 21,276 2,087,461 21,276 2,087,461
Nikhil A. Mehta (2) nil 450,000 nil 450,000
Stephen J. Golden, Ph.D. (3) 1,290,324 405,000 1,290,324 405,000

Non-Executive:  

Bernard H. (“Bud”) Cherry (4) 60,000 nil 60,000 nil
Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III (5) nil nil nil nil
Charles R. Engles, Ph.D. (6) 283,798 48,000 283,798 48,000

Former Non-Executive:  

K. Leonard Judson (7) nil nil nil nil
 
(1) As of 31 December 2009, Mr. Call was fully vested in all of his stock options.  
(2) As of 31 December 2009, Mr. Mehta was vested in 187,500 of his stock options. 
(3) Dr. Golden’s shares are held in the Golden Family Trust dated May 5, 2006.  As of 31 December 2009, Dr. Golden was fully 

vested in all of his stock options.  
(4) Mr. Cherry’s shares were granted as restricted stock pursuant to the 2006 Equity Compensation Plan. 
(5) Mr. Ellis is a general partner of RockPort Capital Partners LLC, a substantial shareholder in the Company. 
(6) As of 31 December 2009, Dr. Engles was fully vested in all of his stock options. 
(7) Mr. Judson is the President and Managing Director of Cycad Group, LLC, a substantial shareholder in the Company. 
 
All of the Directors served throughout the year with the exception of Mr. Judson, who resigned from the 
Board in January 2009. 
 
DIRECTORS' SHARE OPTIONS 
 
There were no options granted to the Directors during 2009. 
 
There have been no post year-end dealings as of the date of this document. 
 
None of the Directors has any holding in any subsidiary Company, nor any material interest in the 
transactions of the Company. 
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
 
As of 31 March 2010, the Company was aware of the following beneficial holdings representing an excess 
of 3% of the Company's ordinary shares: 
 
 
 
Name 

 
 

Shares held 

Percent of 
issued share 

capital
Cinergy Ventures II, LLC 6,562,036 9.41
Aran Asset Management 6,106,913 8.75
RockPort Capital Partners LP (1) 4,898,123 7.02
Cycad Group LLC  4,360,829 6.25
Advent Energy II Limited Partnership (2) 3,543,455 5.08
UBS Zurich 3,528,000 5.06
BASF Venture Capital GMBH 3,121,772 4.47
NGEN Enabling Technologies Fund LP 2,752,849 3.95
Enertech Capital Partners II LP (3) 2,575,461 3.69
Jupiter 2,437,309 3.49
 
(1) Includes 3,475,723 securities held by RockPort Capital Partners, LP and 1,422,400 securities held by RP Co-Investment Fund I.  

Alexander (“Hap”) Ellis, III has interests in the shareholdings of RockPort Capital Partners, LP and therefore is not considered to 
be a fully independent Director for the purposes of the Combined Code. 

(2) Includes 3,518,652 securities held by Advent Energy II Limited Partnership and 24,803 securities held by Advent Partners II 
Limited Partnership 

(3) Includes 2,480,833 securities held by Enertech Capital Partners II LP, and 94,628 securities held by ECP II Interfund, LP. 
 
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
The Company continues to invest in research and development activities with an emphasis on the 
commercialisation of existing technologies and formulation of products to meet specific customer needs. 
 
ENHANCED BUSINESS REVIEW 
 
For a discussion of the Company’s 2009 performance, see the Business and Financial Review beginning 
on page 7 of this document. 
 
AUDITORS 
 
All of the current Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves 
aware of any information needed by the Company’s auditors for the purposes of their audit and to ensure 
that the auditors are aware of that information. The Directors are not aware of any relevant audit 
information of which the auditors are unaware. 
 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
 
The date of the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company will be announced at a later 
date. 
 
By order of the Board, 
 

 
Bruce McRoy 
Secretary 
3 May 2010 
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Statement of Directors' Responsibilities 
 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP). 

 
Company bylaws require the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss for that year.  In preparing 
those financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

 
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

 
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Company will continue in business. 

 
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with U.S. GAAP.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the Company, and hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 
 
Financial statements are published on the Company’s website in accordance with legislation in the U.K. 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website is the responsibility of the 
Directors. The Directors' responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements 
contained therein. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets 
December 31, 2009 and 2008 
 

December 31 
2009  2008

 US $000  US $000
   As Adjusted
Assets   
Current assets:   
 Cash and cash equivalents 2,336  6,726

Trade accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $313 and $123 
 at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively 

 
8,066 

 
10,667

 Inventories 6,184  8,919
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,010  4,494
   
 Total current assets 
 

18,596  30,806

Property and equipment, net 2,897  2,882
Intangible assets, net 4,445  6,486
Goodwill 4,223  6,319
Promissory note from unconsolidated affiliate -  2,767
Other assets 82  454

 Total assets 30,243  49,714
   
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity   
Current liabilities:   
 Line of credit 5,147  8,068
 Current portion of long-term debt  3,000  9,812
 Accounts payable 4,967  7,325
 Deferred revenue 195  2,942
 Accrued salaries and benefits 1,294  1,451
 Accrued expenses 2,990  4,816
 Deferred gain on sale of intellectual property 1,900  -
 Accrued professional and consulting fees 2,375  1,085
 Income taxes payable 1,081  354
 Total current liabilities 22,949  35,853
 Long-term debt, excluding current portion 75  33
      Deferred tax liability 1,336  2,415
   
                   Total liabilities 24,360  38,301

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 9 and 18)    
   

Stockholders’ equity:   
Common stock, no par value.  Authorized 148,500,000 shares; issued and outstanding 
 69,761,902 shares at December 31, 2009 and 2008 

 
156,216 

 
158,019

Treasury stock at cost (60,000 shares) (100)  (100)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (889)  (2,867)
Accumulated deficit (149,344)  (143,639)

 Total stockholders’ equity 5,883  11,413

 Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 30,243  49,714
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Operations 
Years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 
 
 December 31 
 2009  2008
 US $000  US $000
   As Adjusted
Revenues 50,514  52,563
Cost of revenues 38,547  44,346

Gross margin  11,967  8,217

Operating expenses:   
 Sales and marketing 3,577  5,165
 Research and development 7,257  8,942
 General and administrative 8,903  10,611
 Impairment of long-lived assets -  4,928
 Severance expense 1,429  234
 Recapitalization expense 1,258  -
 Gain on sale of intellectual property (2,500) (5,000)

 Total operating expenses 19,924  24,880

 Loss from operations (7,957) (16,663)

Other income (expense):   
 Interest income 18  266
 Interest expense (2,304) (2,224)
 Other (291) (643)

 Total other income (expense) (2,577) (2,601)

 Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (10,534) (19,264)
   
Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations (1,036) 624

Net loss from continuing operations (9,498) (19,888)

Discontinued operations:    
 Income (loss) from operations of discontinued Energy Systems division (including  
  gain on disposal of $3.7 million in 2009) 

 
2,554 

 
(915)

 Income tax expense from discontinued operations 1,032  1

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 1,522 (916)

Net loss  (7,976) (20,804)

Basic and diluted loss per share:   

 Net loss from continuing operations per share $(0.14) $(0.29)

 Net loss per share $(0.11) $(0.30)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (000s):   

 Basic and diluted 69,762  69,701
  
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Loss 
Years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 
 
  

 
 
 
 

Common Stock 

 
 
 
 
 

Treasury Stock 

 

 Shares Amount Shares Amount

Accum-
ulated 
Other 
Comp-

rehensive 
Gain/ 
(Loss)  

 
 
 
 

Accum-
ulated 
Deficit 

 
 
 
 

Net Stock-
holders’ 
Equity  

 US $000 US $000 US $000  US $000 US $000 

Balance at December 31, 2007  69,756,461 156,562 (60,000) (100) 427  (122,612) 34,277
Cumulative effect of change in 
 accounting for patent costs - - - - -  (223) (223)

Net loss - - - - -  (20,804) (20,804)
Unrealized loss on foreign currency 
 translation 

 
- 

 
- - -

 
(3,294)

  
- (3,294)

 Comprehensive loss - - - - -  - (24,098)

Stock based compensation - 821 - - -  - 821

Issuance of warrants - 614 - - -  - 614

Issuance of restricted stock 60,000 22 - - -  - 22

Cashless exercise of stock options 5,441 - - - -  - -
 
Balance at December 31, 2008  69,821,902 158,019 (60,000) (100) (2,867) (143,639) 11,413
Cumulative effect of change in 
 accounting for warrants - (2,494) - - -  2,271 (223)

Net loss - - - - -  (7,976) (7,976)
Unrealized gain on foreign currency 
 translation 

 
- 

 
- - -

 
1,978 

  
- 1,978

 Comprehensive loss - - - - -  - (5,998)

Stock based compensation - 691 - - -  - 691

Balance at December 31, 2009 69,821,902 156,216 (60,000) (100) (889) (149,344) 5,883

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 
 
 December 31 
 2009  2008
 US $000  US $000
   As Adjusted
Cash flows from operating activities:   
Net loss (7,976) (20,804)
(Income) loss from discontinued operations (including gain on sale of discontinued 
  operations of $3.7 million) (1,522)

 
916

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   
 Depreciation and amortization 1,394  3,012
 Provision for (recovery of) doubtful accounts, net 11  (35)
 Amortization of deferred financing 686  923
 Stock-based compensation 691  821
 Change in fair value of liability-classified warrants (221) -
 Loss on unconsolidated affiliate 1,271  988
 Gain on sale of interest in unconsolidated affiliate (1,165)  (428)
 Impairment of long-lived assets  -  4,928
 Deferred income taxes (1,347)  93
 Loss on disposal of property and equipment 60  476
 Loss (gain) on foreign currency transaction 655  (8)
 Gain on sale of intellectual property (2,500) (5,000)

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  
 Trade accounts receivable (3,041) 641
 Inventories  3,184  763
 Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,036  (959)
 Accounts payable 1,662  (1,523)
 Deferred revenue -  2,937
 Accrued expenses (820) (2,015)
 Income taxes payable 377  (1)
  Cash used in operating activities of continuing operations (7,565) (14,275)
  Cash provided by (used in) operating activities of discontinued operations 195 (866)

 Net cash used in operating activities (7,370) (15,141)

Cash flows from investing activities:   
 Investment in unconsolidated affiliate -  (986)
 Purchases of property and equipment (629) (1,896)
 Purchase of ECS, net of cash -  475
 Proceeds from sale of interest in unconsolidated affiliate 108  441
 Proceeds from sale of intellectual property 5,400  4,000
 Proceeds from sale of property and equipment -  1,702
 Proceeds from sale of discontinued Energy Systems division 8,550  -
  Cash provided by investing activities of continuing operations 13,429  3,736
  Cash provided by (used in) investing activities of discontinued operations - (109)

 Net cash provided by investing activities 13,429  3,627

Cash flows from financing activities:   
 Borrowings under line of credit 1,721  4,790
 Proceeds from issuance of debt 30  3,345
 Repayment of line of credit (5,424) (3,506)
 Repayment of long-term debt (6,800) (1,889)
 Payments for debt issuance costs (14) (713)

 Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (10,487) 2,027
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - continued 
December 31, 2009 and 2008  
 
 December 31 
 2009  2008
 US $000  US $000
   As Adjusted

Effect of exchange rates on cash 38  (1,231)

 Net change in cash and cash equivalents (4,390) (10,718)
   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,726  17,444

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,336  6,726
    
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:    
 Cash paid during the year for:   
 Interest 1,390  1,222
 Income taxes 528  809
   
Noncash investing and financing activities:   
 Warrants issued for long-term debt -  614
  
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 
 



 

 40

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

1. Basis of Preparation 

a. Description of Business 

Catalytic Solutions, Inc. (the Company) is a global manufacturer and distributor of 
emissions control systems and products, focused in the heavy duty diesel and light duty 
vehicle markets. The Company’s emissions control systems and products are designed to 
deliver high value to our customers while benefiting the global environment through air 
quality improvement, sustainability and energy efficiency. Catalytic Solutions, Inc. is listed 
on AIM of the London Stock Exchange (AIM: CTS and CTSU) and currently has 
operations in the USA, Canada, France, Japan and Sweden as well as an Asian joint 
venture. 

b. Liquidity 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the 
Company will continue as a going concern.  Therefore, the consolidated financial 
statements contemplate the realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the ordinary 
course of business.  The Company has suffered recurring losses and negative cash flows 
from operations since its inception, resulting in an accumulated deficit of $149.3 million at 
December 31, 2009.  The Company has funded its operations through equity sales, 
convertible debt and bank borrowings.  In addition, due to non-compliance with certain loan 
covenants (described below) and per the repayment obligations under the Company’s loan 
agreements, substantially all the debt of the Company has been classified as current at 
December 31, 2009. As a result of this classification, the Company has a working capital 
deficit of $4.4 million.  The covenants are almost exclusively based on the performance of 
the Company’s Engine Control Systems subsidiary. As of March 31, 2009, the Company 
had failed to achieve two of the covenants under the bank loan agreement with Fifth Third 
Bank (see Note 8 for a discussion of the Fifth Third Bank loan agreement).  The covenants 
that the Company failed to achieve are those related to the annualized EBITDA and the 
funded debt to EBITDA ratio for the Engine Control Systems subsidiary.  The bank agreed 
to temporarily suspend its rights with respect to the breach of these two covenants under a 
Forbearance Agreement that expired on April 30, 2010. The Company is currently in 
discussion with the bank regarding an extension to the forbearance; however, the Company 
cannot provide assurance that it will be successful in these efforts.  

At December 31, 2009 the Company had $2.3 million in cash. The Company’s access to 
working capital is limited and its debt service obligations and projected operating costs for 
2010 exceed its cash balance at December 31, 2009.  Failure to renegotiate payment terms 
for debt due will result in the Company not having sufficient cash to operate. 

These matters raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. In order to address this uncertainty, in the first quarter of 2009, the Company 
retained a U.S.-based investment banking firm to act as a financial advisor to the Company 
in exploring alternatives to recapitalize the Company.   Alternatives under consideration 
include the sale of Company stock and/or a sale of the Company’s assets, while negotiating 
with the Company’s lenders to modify loan terms in order to delay repayments while 
alternative capital is secured.  At this time the Company cannot provide any assurances 
that it will be successful in its continuing efforts to recapitalize the balance sheet or work 
with its lenders on loan modifications. In the event that the Company is not successful in 
the immediate future, the Company will be unable to continue operations and may be 
required to file bankruptcy.  There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to 
reorganize through bankruptcy and might be forced to effect a liquidation of its assets.  The 
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the 
outcome of this uncertainty. 
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c. Preparation based on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP) 

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are presented in U.S. 
dollars and have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

a. Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Catalytic 
Solutions, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant inter-company balances 
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

b. Concentration of Risk 

For the periods presented below, certain customers accounted for 10% or more of the 
Company’s revenues as follows: 

 Years ended December 31 
Customer 2009 2008 

   
A 24% 30% 
B 22% 7% 

The customers above are automotive OEMs and relate to sales within the Catalyst 
segment. 

For the periods presented below, certain customers accounted for 10% or more of the 
Company’s accounts receivable balance as follows: 

 Years ended December 31 
Customer 2009 2008 

   
A 18% 7% 
B 15% - 
C 14% - 

Customer A above is an automotive OEM, and customers B and C are diesel distributors. 

For the periods presented below, certain vendors accounted for 10% or more of the 
Company’s raw material purchases as follows: 

 Years ended December 31 
Vendor 2009 2008 

   
A 16% 12% 
B 14% 11% 
C 11% 19% 

Vendor A above is a catalyst supplier, vendor B is a precious metals supplier and vendor 
C is a substrate supplier. 

c. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management of the Company to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Areas where significant judgments are made include, but are not limited to the 
following: impairment of long-lived assets, stock-based compensation and instruments, 
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allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory valuation, taxes and contingent and accrued 
liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  These estimates and 
assumptions are based on the Company’s best estimates and judgment. The Company 
evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience 
and other factors, including the current economic environment, which it believes to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimates and assumptions are adjusted when facts 
and circumstances dictate. Illiquid credit markets, volatile equity, foreign currency, and 
declines in customer spending have combined to increase the uncertainty inherent in such 
estimates and assumptions. As future events and their effects cannot be determined with 
precision, actual results could differ from these estimates. Changes in estimates resulting 
from continuing changes in the economic environment will be reflected in the financial 
statements in future periods. 

d. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents of $2.3 million and $6.7 million at December 31, 2009 and 
2008, respectively, consist of cash balances and money market mutual funds. For 
purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers the 
money market funds and all highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three 
months or less to be cash equivalents. 

e. Trade Accounts Receivable 

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. 
The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of 
probable credit losses in the Company’s existing accounts receivable. The Company 
determines the allowance based on historical write-off experience and past-due balances 
over 60 days that are reviewed individually for collectability. Account balances are 
charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and 
the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company does not have any 
off-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers. 

f. Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (FIFO method) or market (net realizable value). 
Finished goods inventory includes materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. 

g. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Property and equipment under capital leases 
are stated at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Depreciation and 
amortization have been provided using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives: 

Machinery and equipment 2 – 10 years 
Furniture and fixtures 2 – 5 years 
Computer hardware and software 2 – 5 years 
Vehicles 2 – 5 years 

When an asset is sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated 
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized. 
Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred and major replacements or 
betterments are capitalized. Property and equipment held under capital leases and 
leasehold improvements are amortized straight-line over the shorter of the lease term or 
estimated useful life of the asset. Total depreciation for continuing operations for the years 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $0.6 million and $2.3 million, respectively. 
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h. Goodwill 

Goodwill is recorded when the purchase price of an acquisition exceeds the estimated fair 
value of the net identified tangible and intangible assets acquired and is recorded in the 
reporting unit that will benefit from acquired intangible and tangible assets. Goodwill is 
tested for impairment on an annual basis and written down to its implied fair value when 
impaired. The Company performed the annual goodwill impairment testing as of October 
31, 2009. The Company’s Heavy Duty Diesel (HDD) Systems reporting unit, which is also 
a reporting segment, has all of the Company’s allocated goodwill.  The Company 
performed Step I of the annual impairment test and it was determined that the fair value of 
the Company’s reporting unit (as determined using the expected present value of future 
cash flows) was greater than the carrying amount of the respective reporting unit, 
including goodwill, and Step II of the annual impairment test was not necessary; therefore, 
there was no impairment to the carrying amount of the reporting unit. 

i. Purchased Intangible Assets  

Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization. 
Amortization is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
respective assets, ranging from 1 to 20 years.  Intangible assets consist of trade names, 
acquired patents and technology, and customer relationships. 

j. Income Taxes 

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and 
their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation 
allowance against deferred tax assets is required if, based on the weight of available 
evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will 
not be realized. The valuation allowance should be sufficient to reduce the deferred tax 
asset to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.  The Company recognizes 
the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being 
sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is 
greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are 
reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.  The Company records 
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. 

k. Revenue Recognition 

The Company generally recognizes revenue when products are shipped and the 
customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss, collection of the relevant receivable 
is reasonably assured, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and the sales price 
is fixed or determinable.  There are certain customers where risk of loss transfers at 
destination point and revenue is recognized when product is delivered to the destination.  
For these customers, revenue is recognized upon receipt at the customer’s warehouse.  
This generally occurs within five days from shipment date.   

The HDD Systems division has certain sales with associated installation.  For such sales, 
revenue is recognized upon completion of installation. 

l. Research and Development 

Research and development costs are generally expensed as incurred.   
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m. Long-Lived Assets 

Assets such as property, plant, and equipment and amortizable intangible assets are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held 
and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset or asset group 
to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or 
asset group. If the carrying amount of an asset or asset group exceeds its estimated 
future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset or asset group exceeds the fair value of the asset or asset 
group. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the balance sheet and 
reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell and are no 
longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for 
sale would be presented separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the 
balance sheet.   

n. Stock Compensation 

The Company recognizes compensation expense ratably over the vesting period based 
on the estimated grant date fair value method using the Black-Scholes option-valuation 
model. The Company’s Plan allows for the grant of awards with market conditions.  These 
awards are valued using a Monte Carlo univariate options pricing model.    

o. Foreign Currency 

The functional currency of the HDD Systems division is the Canadian Dollar, while that of 
its subsidiary Engine Control Systems Europe AB in Sweden is the Swedish Krona.  The 
functional currency of the Company’s Japanese branch office and TCC joint venture is the 
Japanese Yen.  Assets and liabilities of the foreign locations are translated into U.S. 
dollars at period-end exchange rates. Revenue and expense accounts are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the period. The resulting adjustments are charged or 
credited directly to accumulated comprehensive income (loss) within Stockholders’ Equity. 
All realized and unrealized transaction adjustments are included in other income (loss). 

p. Accounting Changes 

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted EITF 07-05, “Determining Whether an 
Instrument (or Embedded Feature) is Indexed to an Entity’s Own Stock,” included in 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) topic 815. EITF 07-05 provides guidance on 
determining what types of instruments or embedded features in an instrument held by a 
reporting entity can be considered indexed to its own stock.  Upon adoption of the EITF, 
the Company reclassified certain of its warrants from equity to liabilities.  See further 
discussion in Note 7. 

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value 
Measurements” (SFAS 157) included in ASC Topic 820, for all assets and liabilities 
effective January 1, 2008 except for nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are recognized 
or disclosed at fair value on a non-recurring basis where the adoption was January 1, 
2009.  The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.  ASC 820 prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair 
value into the following hierarchy: 

• Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. 

• Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either 
directly or indirectly observable. 

• Level 3:  Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists, therefore 
requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions about the assumptions that 
market participants would use in pricing. 
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Goodwill impairment testing requires the Company to estimate the fair value of its 
reporting unit.  The Company’s estimate of fair value of its reporting unit involves level 3 
inputs.  The estimated fair value of the HDD Systems reporting unit was derived primarily 
from a discounted cash flow model utilizing significant unobservable inputs including 
expected cash flows and discount rates.  In addition, the Company considered the overall 
fair values of its reporting units as compared to the market capitalization of the Company.  
The Company determined that no goodwill impairment existed as of December 31, 2009; 
however, it is reasonably possible that future impairment tests may result in a different 
conclusion for the goodwill of the HDD Systems reporting unit.  The estimate of fair value 
of the reporting units is sensitive to certain factors including but not limited to the 
following: movements in the Company’s share price, changes in discount rates and the 
Company’s cost of capital, growth of the reporting unit’s revenue, cost structure of the 
reporting unit, successful completion of research and development and customer 
acceptance of new products and approval of the reporting unit’s product by regulatory 
agencies. 

During 2009, the Company elected to change its accounting policy for legal costs incurred 
during the registration of patents to expense such costs as incurred.  Previously, the 
Company capitalized such costs when they concluded such costs resulted in probable 
future benefits.  Due to the administrative difficulties in documenting support for the future 
benefit of such costs as a result of uncertainty of ultimate patent approval, the Company 
concluded the new method of accounting was preferable.  The 2008 financial statements 
have been adjusted to reflect these changes. 

The Company recorded a cumulative effect of the change as an increase to accumulated 
deficit on January 1, 2008 totaling $0.2 million.  The adjustments to the Company’s 
balance sheet and statement of operations as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2008, respectively, were not material and include: (i) reductions to intangible assets, total 
assets, and total stockholders’ equity and an increase to accumulated deficit at December 
31, 2008 of $0.4 million, and (ii) increases to general and administrative expense, net loss 
from continuing operations and net loss for the year ended December 31, 2008 of $0.2 
million. 

Loss per share, loss from continuing operations per share and cash flow from operations 
for the year ended December 31, 2008 remained unchanged. 

The adjustments to the Company’s balance sheet and statement of operations as of and 
for the six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, were not material and 
include: (i) reductions to intangible assets, total assets, and total stockholders’ equity and 
an increase to accumulated deficit at June 30, 2009 and 2008 of $0.6 million and $0.5 
million, respectively, and (ii) increases to general and administrative expenses and net 
loss for the six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 of $0.1 million and $0.1 million, 
respectively.  Loss per share and cash flows from operations for the six months ended 
June 30, 2009 would have been $0.01 greater and unchanged, respectively.  Loss per 
share and cash flows from operations for the six months ended June 30, 2008 would have 
been unchanged. 

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168, “The FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles – a 
replacement of FASB Statement No. 162”, included in ASC Topic 105, “Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles” (ASC 105).  ASC 105 establishes the FASB Accounting 
Standards Codification as the source of authoritative accounting principles recognized by 
the FASB to be applied by non-governmental entities in the preparation of financial 
statements in conformity with U.S GAAP.  ASC 105 was effective for financial statements 
issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009.  The Company 
adopted this standard and included the new references in its consolidated financial 
statements effective with the year ending December 31, 2009. 
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q. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair values of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, 
prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, accrued salaries and 
benefits and accrued expenses approximate carrying values due to the short maturity of 
these instruments.  The fair values of the Company’s debt and off-balance sheet 
commitments are less than their carrying values as a result of deteriorating credit quality 
of the Company and, therefore, expected higher interest rates that would be available 
currently to the Company. 

It is not practical to estimate the fair value of these instruments as the Company’s debt is 
not publicly traded and the Company’s current financial position and the recent credit 
crisis experienced by financial institutions have caused current financing options to be 
limited.   

3. Trade Accounts Receivable 

Trade accounts receivable at December 31, 2009 and 2008 consisted of the following: 

 2009  2008 
 US $000  US $000 

Non-contract trade accounts receivable  8,379  4,521 
Completed contracts -  178 
Contracts in progress -  6,091 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (313)  (123) 

 8,066  10,667 

At December 31, 2009, there were no amounts included in receivables under retainage provisions 
in contracts.  

The Company’s revolving credit facility is collateralized by inventory and receivables.  At 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, the collateralized receivables were $6.0 million and $2.8 million, 
respectively. 

In December 2005, the Company fully reserved an accounts receivable balance from Delphi in the 
amount of $0.4 million. The $0.4 million represents the amount owed to the Company at the time 
of Delphi’s filing for bankruptcy protection in October 2005. The entire balance was reserved when 
the Company determined it was unlikely that Delphi would improve the priority of the debt beyond 
those of general creditors and a probable loss would be incurred by the Company.  In 2007, the 
Company sold its interest in the receivable at 102.5% of value; however, the Company did not 
reverse its reserve as the buyer had the ability to demand a refund if Delphi refused the 
Company’s claim.  In 2009, the Company released the reserve and recorded a $0.4 million gain in 
other income as a result of Delphi exiting bankruptcy. 

4. Inventories 

Inventories at December 31, 2009 and 2008 consisted of the following: 

 2009  2008 
 US $000  US $000 
Finished goods 2,221  4,735 
Work in progress 1,255  1,127 
Raw materials 2,708  3,057 
 6,184  8,919 
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5. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment at December 31, 2009 and 2008 consisted of the following: 

 2009  2008 
 US $000  US $000 
Buildings and land 679  511 
Furniture and fixtures 2,354  2,175 
Computer hardware and software 1,351  1,335 
Machinery and equipment 11,544  11,376 
Vehicles 59  73 
 15,987  15,470 
Less accumulated depreciation (13,090)  (12,588) 
 2,897  2,882 

During the year ending December 31, 2008, the Company conducted an assessment for the 
impairment of certain property, plant and equipment within the catalyst segment as a result of the 
significant slow-down in the automotive sector during 2008 and the anticipated pace of recovery of 
the Company’s business in the light duty vehicle catalyst segment.  During this assessment, 
certain long-lived assets of the light duty vehicle catalyst segment were deemed to be impaired 
and a write-down to fair value was considered necessary. An impairment charge of $4.9 million 
was recorded during the year ending December 31, 2008, due to projected cash flows not being 
able to support the asset base. The Company uses a probability-weighted discounted cash flow 
model to determine fair market value. The allocation of the impairment to asset groups is shown 
below: 

  2008 
  US $000 
Furniture and fixtures  278 
Computer hardware and software  1,127 
Machinery and equipment  3,515 
Vehicles  8 
  4,928 

6. Share-Based Payment  

The Company has two stock option plans (the 1997 Plan and the 2006 Plan) for the benefit of 
employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company. The 1997 Plan expired on 
December 31, 2006 and as of December 31, 2009, there were 2,283,150 shares outstanding.  
Under the 2006 Plan, a total of 4,200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved 
for issuance. Options granted under the plans are generally exercisable for a period between 
seven and ten years from the date of grant at an exercise price that is not less than the fair market 
value of the common stock on the date of grant. Options granted under the 1997 Plan generally 
vest over a period of four years and those granted under the 2006 Plan generally vest over a 
period of three years.  Vested stock options may be exercised and paid for by cash, check, net-
exercise or by other means as approved by the Remuneration Committee of the Company’s 
Board of Directors.  The fair market value is determined by using the last reported sale price as 
listed on the AIM of the London Stock Exchange as of the date of exercise or (if there were no 
trades on that date) the latest preceding date upon which a sale was reported.  All common stock 
issued from exercises are newly issued shares that have been reserved for under the respective 
Plans.   

Under the 2006 Plan, the Company granted stock options that include a market condition.  Such 
options become exercisable if the Company’s common stock trading price is equal to or exceeds 
an amount equal to 120% of the exercise price of the option for a period of ninety days on which 
the stock is actually traded on the AIM of the London Stock Exchange.  The fair value of these 
awards is determined using the Monte Carlo univariate pricing model.   
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There were no options granted during the year ended December 31, 2009.   

The per share weighted average fair value of each option granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2008 was $0.44.  The 2006 market-based Plan was valued using a Monte Carlo 
univariate option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:  

 2008 

Expected volatility 59.9% 
Risk-free interest rate 2.8% 
Dividend yield 0.0% 
Expected life in years 5.0 
Forfeiture rate 6.0% 

As the stock of the Company became publicly traded in November 2006 and has traded for a 
relatively short period time, it is not practicable for management to estimate the expected volatility 
of share price because there is not sufficient historical information about volatility.   Therefore, the 
Company utilized an estimate based upon a portfolio of peer companies.  The expected life was 
derived via the Monte Carlo model.   

The following summarizes the stock option transactions under the Company’s stock option plans 
during the years presented: 

  
Shares 

Weighted average 
exercise price

  $
Options outstanding at December 31, 2007 5,305,151 1.95
Granted 728,000 0.81
Exercised (30,000) 1.07
Forfeited (129,000) 2.44
Expired (556,740) 1.96
   
Options outstanding at December 31, 2008 5,317,411 1.78
Granted - -
Exercised - -
Forfeited (220,620) 1.98
Expired (455,848) 2.16
   
Options outstanding at December 31, 2009 4,640,943 1.73

At December 31, 2009, the range of exercise prices and weighted average remaining contractual 
life of outstanding options was $0.42 – $2.74 and 4.87 years, respectively. 

The following table details the options outstanding at December 31, 2009: 

  
Options 

outstanding 

Options 
currently 

exercisable 

 
Options  vested or 

expected to vest 

Number of shares 4,640,943 3,682,861 4,456,739 
Weighted average exercise price $1.73 $1.91 $1.75 

Aggregate intrinsic - - - 
Weighted average remaining contractual term 4.87 4.74 4.90 

The total compensation cost of non-vested options expected to vest is $281,035, with a weighted 
average period to recognize of 0.7 years. 
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There was no cash received from option exercises under any share-based payment arrangements 
for the years ended December 31, 2009 or 2008.   

The Company’s 2006 Plan allows for the issuance of stock awards to Non-Executive Directors.  
As of December 31, 2009, the Company had issued two restricted stock awards in accordance 
with the Plan, totaling 120,000 shares. 

7. Warrants 

In June 2008, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,250,000 shares of common stock as 
part of the consideration for a debt facility with Cycad Group, LLC.   

In December 2007, The Company issued warrants to purchase 3,117,115 shares of common 
stock to Capital Works, LLC as part of the consideration to acquire Engine Control Systems.   

The exercisable warrants and their associated exercise prices are shown below at December 31, 
2009 and 2008: 

Warrants exercisable into common stock (issued in USD) 37,500 
Exercise price $1.67 
Warrants exercisable into common stock (issued in GBX) 4,367,115 
Weighted average exercise price $1.02 

The Company adopted EITF 07-05 on January 1, 2009.   With the adoption of EITF 07-05, the 
warrants to Cycad Group, LLC and Capital Works, LLC were determined not to be solely linked to 
the stock price of the Company and, therefore, require classification as liabilities.  As a result of 
the adoption on January 1, 2009, the Company recorded a cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle of $2.3 million directly as a reduction of accumulated deficit representing the 
decline in fair value between the issuance and adoption date.  The fair value of the warrants was 
calculated using the Black-Scholes option-valuation model.  The model utilized a volatility of 60% 
and a risk free rate of 1.4%.  The years to maturity are 4.4 and 2.8 for the Cycad Group, LLC and 
Capital Works, LLC warrants, respectively, which corresponds to the remaining term of the 
warrants.  For the year ended December 31, 2009, the application of EITF 07-05 resulted in an 
increase to other income of $0.2 million resulting from a decline in fair value of the warrants during 
the period.  

8. Debt 

In June 2008, the Company put in place a debt facility with Cycad Group, LLC that would allow a 
one-time draw down of up to $3.3 million. In September 2008, the Company borrowed $3.3 million 
under the debt facility.  The debt was collateralized by the accounts receivable at the Energy 
Systems division and the machinery and equipment of the Catalyst division. As of May 31, 2009, 
the Company was out of compliance with a covenant in the loan agreement with Cycad Group, 
LLC.  The non-compliance resulted from the Company’s failure to achieve covenants under the 
bank loan agreement with Fifth Third Bank, as described below.  The Company paid off the debt 
and all accrued interest and fees on October 1, 2009. 

In December 2007, the Company and its subsidiaries including Engine Control Systems entered 
into borrowing agreements with Fifth Third Bank as part of the cash consideration paid for the 
purchase of Engine Control Systems on December 20, 2007.  The borrowing agreements 
provided for three facilities including a revolving line of credit and two term loans.  The line of 
credit is a demand facility loan up to a maximum principal amount of Canadian $8.5 million, with 
availability based upon eligible accounts receivable and inventory.  At December 31, 2009, the 
outstanding balance in U.S. dollar was $5.1 million with $3.0 million available for borrowings by 
Engine Control Systems in Canada.  The other facilities included a five-year non-revolving term 
loan of up to $2.5 million, which was paid off during 2008, and a non-revolving term loan of $3.5 
million that was paid off in October 2009.  The loans are collateralized by the assets of the 
Company.  The interest rate on the line of credit is variable based upon Canadian and U.S. Prime 
Rates.  As of December 31, 2009, the weighted average borrowing rate on the line of credit was 
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4.48% compared to 6.36% as of December 31, 2008.  The Company is also subject to covenants 
on minimum levels of tangible capital funds, fixed charge coverage, earnings before income tax, 
depreciation and amortization, funded debt-to-earnings before income tax and depreciation and 
amortization.  In the event of default, the bank may demand payment on all amounts outstanding 
immediately.  The Company is also restricted from paying corporate distributions in excess of 
$250,000.  The loan agreement also includes a material adverse change clause, exercisable if, in 
the opinion of the bank, there is a material adverse change in the financial condition, ownership or 
operation of Engine Control Systems or the Company.  If the bank deems that a material adverse 
change has occurred, the bank may terminate the Company’s right to borrow under the 
agreement and demand payment of all amounts outstanding under the agreement.  As of March 
31, 2009, the Company had failed to achieve two of the covenants under the bank loan agreement 
with Fifth Third Bank.  The covenants that the Company failed to achieve are those related to the 
annualized EBITDA and the funded debt to EBITDA ratio for the Engine Control Systems 
subsidiary.  The bank agreed to temporarily suspend its rights with respect to the breach of these 
two covenants under a Forbearance Agreement that expired on April 30, 2010.   

The Company has $3.0 million of consideration due to the seller as part of the Applied Utility 
Systems acquisition.  The consideration was due August 28, 2009 and accrues interest at 5.36%.  
At December 31, 2009 the Company had accrued $538,000 of unpaid interest.  The Company is 
currently in arbitration with seller on payment of the consideration. 

Long-term debt at December 31, 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows: 

 2009  2008 
 US $000  US $000 
Line of credit 5,147  8,068 
Consideration payable  3,000  3,000 
Term loans -  3,500 
Cycad debt facility -  3,300 
Capital lease obligation 75  45 
 8,222  17,913 
Less current portion (8,147)  (17,880) 
 75  33 

Annual scheduled principal payments of long-term debt are $8.1 million and $0.1 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2012, respectively.   

9. Commitments and Contingencies 

The Company leases certain equipment and facilities under operating leases that expire through 
December 2018. Minimum future payments at December 31, 2009 are as follows: 

Years ending December 31: US $000 
 2010 1,261 
 2011 1,107 
 2012 1,049 
 2013 646 
 2014 641 
 Thereafter 1,150 
 5,854 

Rent expense during 2009 and 2008 totaled $1.5 million and $1.3 million, respectively. 
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10. Severance Expense 

The Company has taken actions to reduce its cost base beginning in 2008 and continuing into 
2009.  As a result of these actions, the Company has accrued severance costs as follows: 

 US $000 
  
Accrued severance at December 31, 2007 - 
 Accrued severance expense 234 
 Paid severance expense (47) 

Accrued severance at December 31, 2008 187 
 Accrued severance expense 1,429 
 Paid severance expense (946) 

Accrued severance at December 31, 2009 670 

11. Income Taxes 

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes include the following components: 

 2009 2008 
 US $000 US $000
 U.S.-based operations  (11,678) (21,396)
 Non U.S.-based operations 1,144 2,132 
 (10,534) (19,264)

Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to loss from continuing operations is summarized as 
follows: 

 Current  Deferred           Total 

Year ended December 31, 2008: US $000  US $000  US $000 
      U.S Federal (47)  -  (47)
      State and local 56  -  56 
      Foreign 522  93  615 
               Total 531  93  624 
Year ended December 31, 2009:      
      U.S Federal (560)  (258)  (818)
      State and local (150)  (70)  (220)
      Foreign 1,021  (1,019)  2 
               Total 311  (1,347)  (1,036)

 
Income taxes attributable to loss from continuing operations differ from the amounts computed by 
applying the U.S. federal statutory rate of 34% to loss from continuing operations before income 
taxes as shown below: 

 2009 2008 
 US $000 US $000
Expected tax benefit (3,582) (6,550)
Net tax effects of:   
 State taxes, net of federal benefit (643) (1,374)
 Research credits (153) (103)
 Other (245) 209 
 Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance  3,587 8,442 
 (1,036) 624
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following: 

 2009 2008 
 US $000 US $000 
Deferred tax assets:   

Research and development credits 3,895 3,758 
Other credits 366 354 
Operating loss carry forwards 34,509 27,727 
Warrant expense 84 84 
Inventories 601 960 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 105 36 
Depreciation 566 1,112 
Deferred research and development expenses for income tax 6,882 8,557 
Non-cash compensation 681 482 
Other 3,800 3,264 

          Total gross deferred tax assets 51,489 46,334 
         Valuation allowance (48,536)  (44,949)
Net deferred tax assets 2,953 1,385 
Deferred tax liabilities:   

Amortization (2,749) (2,030)
Other identifiable intangibles (1,540) (1,770)

          Total gross deferred tax liabilities (4,289) (3,800)
Net deferred tax liabilities (1,336) (2,415)

 
The Company had approximately $89.8 million and $70.5 million of federal and state income tax 
net operating loss carry forwards at December 31, 2009, respectively. The federal and state 
income tax net operating loss carry forwards expire starting in 2017 and 2012, respectively.   

In assessing the potential realization of deferred tax assets, consideration is given to whether it is 
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The 
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the Company attaining future taxable 
income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. In addition, 
the utilization of net operating loss carry forwards may be limited due to restrictions imposed 
under applicable federal and state tax laws due to a change in ownership.  Based upon the level 
of historical operating losses and future projections, management believes it is more likely than 
not that the Company will not realize a significant portion of the deferred tax assets.  

Future utilization of the net operating losses and credit carry forwards may be subject to a 
substantial annual limitation due to ownership change limitations as required by Sections 382 and 
383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), as well as similar state 
limitations.  The Company is in the process of performing a study to assess whether an ownership 
change has occurred that would materially impact the future utilization of the Company’s net 
operating losses and credits. The preliminary results do not indicate a material limitation has 
occurred with respect to any of the Company’s net operating losses and credits.  A future change 
at the Company’s current market capitalization would severely limit the annual use of the net 
operating losses and credits and could result in the expiration of all or a portion of the net 
operating losses and credits prior to utilization.   

The following changes occurred in the amount of Unrecognized Tax Benefits (including related 
interest and penalties) during the year: 

 US $000 
Balance as of January 1, 2009 268 
Additions for current year tax positions 127 
Reductions for prior year tax positions (34)
Balance as of December 31, 2009 361 
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As of December 31, 2009, the Company had $76,000 accrued for payment of interest and 
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. 

The Company operates in multiple tax jurisdictions, both within and outside of the United States.  
The following tax years remain open to examination by the major domestic taxing jurisdictions to 
which we are subject:  

 Open tax years 
United States - Federal 2006 - 2009 
United States - State 2005 - 2009 
Canada 2004 - 2009 
Sweden 2008 - 2009 

12. Foreign Exchange 

The Company has exposure to multiple currencies.  The primary exposure is between the U.S. 
dollar, the Canadian dollar, the Euro and Swedish Krona.  The Company recorded foreign 
exchange loss of $1.1 million and gain of $0.2 million in the years ended December 31, 2009 and 
2008, respectively, included in other expense on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. 

13. Net Earnings per Share (EPS)  

Basic net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period.  Diluted net loss per share is computed using the weighted average 
number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares.  Diluted net loss per share 
excludes certain dilutive potential common shares outstanding, as their effect is anti-dilutive on 
loss from continuing operations.  Dilutive potential common shares consist of employee stock 
options and other warrants that are convertible into the Company’s common stock. 

Because the Company incurred losses in the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the 
effect of dilutive securities totaling 9,045,558 and 9,782,000 equivalent shares, respectively, has 
been excluded in the computation of net loss per share and net loss from continuing operations 
per share as their impact would be anti-dilutive.   

14. TCC Joint Venture 

In February 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with Tanaka Kikinzoku Kogyo K.K. 
(TKK) to form a new joint venture company, TC Catalyst Incorporated (TCC), a Japanese 
corporation.  The joint venture is part of the Catalyst division.  The Company entered the joint 
venture in order to improve its presence in Japan and Asia and strengthen its business flow into 
the Asian market.   

In December 2008, the Company agreed to sell and transfer specific heavy duty diesel catalyst 
technology and intellectual property to TKK for use in the defined territory for a total selling price of 
$7.5 million. TKK will provide that intellectual property to TCC on a royalty-free basis.  The 
Company also sold shares in TCC to TKK reducing its ownership to 30%.  $5.0 million of the sale 
was completed and recognized in 2008 with $2.5 million recognized in 2009. 

In December 2009, the Company agreed to sell and transfer specific three-way catalyst and zero 
PGM patents to TKK for use in specific geographic regions.  The patents were sold for $3.9 
million.  TKK paid the Company $1.9 million in 2009 and $2.0 million in the first quarter of 2010.   
As the Company had not delivered the technology as of December 31, 2009, the Company will 
recognize the sale of the patents in 2010. As part of the transaction, the Company also sold 
shares in TCC, bringing its ownership in the joint venture down to 5%.  As the Company is 
contractually obligated to fund its portion of the losses of the joint venture based on its ownership 
percentage, the Company recognized a gain of $1.1 million during the year ended December 31, 
2009 as a result of the decrease in ownership and the related decrease it its obligation to fund 
losses.  The gain is included in other income. 
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The Company’s investment in TCC is accounted for using the equity method as the Company still 
has significant influence over TCC as a result of having a seat on TCC’s board.  The Company’s 
share of the TCC net loss for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $1.3 million and TKK’s 
share is the balance.  At December 31, 2009, the Company’s interest in the accumulated deficit of 
TCC is reflected as an accrued liability of $0.2 million as the Company is contractually obligated to 
fund its portion of the deficit.  TCC operates with a March 31 fiscal year-end.  Financial information 
for TCC as of and for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009 is as follows: 

 
 2009 
 US $000 
Assets 6,928 
Liabilities 10,980 
Deficit (4,052)
  
Net sales 745 
Gross Margin (213)
Net earnings (4,379)

 
15. Sale of Energy Systems Division 

On October 1, 2009 the Company sold all significant assets of Applied Utility Systems, Inc., which 
comprised the Company’s Energy Systems division, for up to $10.0 million, including $8.6 million 
in cash and contingent consideration of $1.4 million. Of the contingent consideration, $0.5 million 
was contingent upon Applied Utility Systems being awarded certain projects and $0.9 million is 
retention against certain project and contract warranties and other obligations.  The Company has 
not recognized any of the contingent consideration as of December 31, 2009 and will only do so if 
the contingencies are resolved favorably.  The $0.5 million of contingent consideration that was 
contingent on the award of certain projects was not earned and is not likely to be paid. The 
income statement of the Energy Systems division is presented as discontinued operations.  Basic 
and diluted income from discontinued operations per share was $0.02 and loss from discontinued 
operations per share was $0.01 for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
Revenue included within discontinued operations was $14.0 million and $10.4 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

16. Related-party Transactions 

In June 2008, the Company put in place a debt facility with Cycad Group, LLC (a significant 
shareholder of the Company) that would allow a one-time draw down of up to $3.3 million. To 
avoid any conflict of interest, Mr. K. Leonard Judson, officer of Cycad Group, LLC and Non-
Executive Director of the Company, recused himself from all Board of Directors discussions and 
voting pertaining to the debt facility.  Further details regarding the debt facility are disclosed in the 
long-term debt discussion in Note 8.  Mr. Judson resigned from the Board of Directors of the 
Company in January 2009.  The debt facility was repaid in full on October 1, 2009. 

In October 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors unanimously adopted a resolution to waive 
the Non-Executive Directors’ right to receive, and the Company’s obligation to pay, any director 
fees with respect to participation in Board and Committee meetings and other matters with effect 
from July 1, 2008 and continuing thereafter until the Directors elect to adopt resolutions reinstating 
such fees.  On May 1, 2009, the Directors adopted a resolution to reinstate the accrual of director 
fees effective January 1, 2009, with a payment schedule to be determined at a later date.  As of 
December 31, 2009 an amount of $406,000 was accrued for Directors fees and was due and 
payable to the Directors. 
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17. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009 
are as follows: 

 US $000 
Balance at December 31, 2007 7,753 

Goodwill adjustments related to acquisition of Engine Control Systems 54 
Tax valuation adjustment (489)
Effect of translation adjustment (999)

  
Balance at December 31, 2008 6,319 

Sale of Energy Systems division (2,600)
Effect of translation adjustment 504 

Balance at December 31, 2009 4,223 

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 are summarized as follows: 
 

 Useful life 2009  2008 
  US $000  US $000 
Trade name 15-20 years 738  2,151 
Non-compete agreement 3 years -  111 
Patents and know-how 5-10 years 3,792  4,919 
Acquired contract work-in-progress 1.4 years -  353 
Customer relationships 8 years 1,206  1,094 
  5,736  8,628 
Less accumulated amortization  (1,291)  (2,142) 
  4,445  6,486 

Aggregate amortization for amortizable intangible assets, using the straight-line amortization 
method, for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $0.8 million and $0.6 million, 
respectively.  Estimated amortization expense for existing intangible assets for the next five years 
is $546,000 in each year. 

18. Legal Proceedings 

In connection with the Company's acquisition of the assets of Applied Utility Systems, Inc., 
Applied Utility Systems entered into a Consulting Agreement with M.N. Mansour, Inc. ("Mansour, 
Inc."), pursuant to which Mansour, Inc. and Dr. M.N. Mansour ("Dr. Mansour") agreed to perform 
consulting services for Applied Utility Systems.  As further discussed in Note 15, the income 
statement of Applied Utility Systems is presented as discontinued operations.  During February 
2008, Applied Utility Systems terminated the Consulting Agreement for cause and alleged that 
Mansour, Inc. and Dr. Mansour had breached their obligations under the Consulting Agreement.  
The matter was submitted to binding arbitration in Los Angeles, California.  The arbitration was 
held during February 2009.  During May 2009 the Arbitrator rendered an Interim Award (a) finding 
that the Consulting Agreement was properly terminated by the Company on February 27, 2008, 
(b) excusing the Company from any obligation to make any further payments under the Consulting 
Agreement and (c) excusing Mansour, Inc. from any obligation to repay to the Company any of the 
amounts previously paid to it under the Consulting Agreement.  In the Interim Award, the Arbitrator 
requested that the parties schedule a date for a hearing on the award of attorneys' fees and the 
correction of any aspects of the award, without rearguing the merits of the case.  The Consulting 
Agreement provides that, on termination of the Consulting Agreement by the Company, Mansour, 
Inc. shall repay to the Company 75% of the amounts previously paid to it under the Consulting 
Agreement.  The hearing was held on February 17, 2010.  At the hearing, the Company sought 
the award of its attorneys' fees and the correction of the award to require such payment by 
Mansour, Inc.  The Arbitrator took the matter under submission and did not render a decision at 
the hearing.  A final hearing on the award of attorneys’ fees is scheduled for May 10, 2010.  
Included in accrued liabilities at December 31, 2009, is an accrual for the consulting fees under 
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this arrangement through the date of the interim award totaling $1.5 million.  Should a final binding 
award be rendered on terms that are consistent with the interim award, the Company would 
reverse the accrued liability and record income from discontinued operations. 

The Company has $3.0 million of consideration due to the seller under the Applied Utility Systems 
Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 28, 2006.  The consideration was due August 28, 2009 
and accrues interest at 5.36%.  At December 31, 2009 the Company had accrued $538,000 of 
unpaid interest.  The Company has not paid the foregoing amount.  The Company has certain 
claims against the seller under the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement.  At this time, the 
Company intends to vigorously assert its claims against seller under the Asset Purchase 
Agreement and to defend against any action or arbitration by seller to collect on the consideration.  
The seller commenced an action in California Superior Court for collection of the consideration.  
Such action was dismissed by the court and the seller was directed to pursue any collection action 
through arbitration.  Seller has commenced arbitration proceedings to collect the amounts payable 
under the consideration.  Arbitration dates for this action have not been determined.  This 
arbitration is in the preliminary stages and it is impossible to predict the outcome of the arbitration.  
Under the terms of the Fifth Third forbearance agreement described in Note 8, the Company is 
prohibited from making any payment to unsecured creditors, including seller, until the conditions of 
the forbearance agreement have been met. 

In connection with the Company's acquisition of the assets of Applied Utility Systems, Inc., 
Mansour, Inc. and Dr. Mansour entered into an Agreement Not to Compete pursuant to which they 
agreed to refrain from taking certain actions that would be competitive with the business of 
Applied Utility Systems, Inc. acquired by the Company.  The Company believes that Mansour, Inc. 
and Dr. Mansour have breached their obligations under such Agreement and has commenced suit 
in California Superior Court for Orange County, California, to enjoin any continuing breaches and 
to recover damages for the alleged breaches.  Mansour, Inc. and Dr. Mansour have demurred to 
the Complaint.  A hearing on the demurrer is scheduled for May 10, 2010.  The suit is in the 
preliminary stages and it is not possible to predict the outcome of the suit. 

On September 30, 2008, Applied Utility Systems, Inc. (“AUS”), a former subsidiary of the 
Company, filed a complaint against Benz Air Engineering, Inc. (“Benz Air”).  The complaint was 
amended on January 16, 2009, and asserts claims against Benz Air for breach of contract, 
common counts and slander.  AUS seeks $183,000 in damages, plus interest, costs and 
applicable penalties.  In response to the complaint, Benz Air filed a cross-complaint on November 
17, 2008, which named both AUS and the Company as defendants.  The cross-complaint asserts 
claims against AUS and the Company for breach of oral contract, breach of express warranty, 
breach of implied warranty, negligent misrepresentation and intentional misrepresentation and 
seeks not less than $300,000 in damages, plus interest, costs and punitive damages.  The case is 
set for trial on June 14, 2010.  The Company assumed the benefits and obligations of this claim 
when it sold AUS. 

19. Segment Reporting 

The Company has two division segments based on the products it delivers: 

Heavy Duty Diesel (HDD) Systems division - The HDD Systems division includes retrofit of 
legacy diesel fleets with emissions control systems and the emerging opportunity for new engine 
emissions controls for on- and off-road vehicles.  In 2007, the Company acquired Engine Control 
Systems (ECS), an Ontario, Canada-based company focused on a variety of heavy duty vehicle 
applications. This environmental business segment specializes in the design and manufacture of 
verified exhaust emissions control solutions. Globally, the HDD Systems division offers a range of 
products for the OEM, aftermarket and retrofit markets in order to reduce exhaust emissions 
created by on-road, off-road and stationary diesel, gasoline and alternative fuel engines including 
propane and natural gas. The retrofit market in the U.S. is driven in particular by state and 
municipal environmental regulations and incentive funding for voluntary early compliance.  The 
HDD Systems division derives significant revenues from retrofit with a portfolio of solutions verified 
by the California Air Resources Board and the United States Environmental Protection Agency.   
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Catalyst division - The Catalyst division is the original part of the Catalytic Solutions (CSI) 
business behind the Company’s proprietary Mixed Phase Catalyst (MPC®) technology enabling 
the Company to produce catalyst formulations for gasoline, diesel and natural gas induced 
emissions that offer performance, proven durability and cost effectiveness for multiple markets 
and a wide range of applications. A family of unique catalysts has been developed — with base-
metals or low platinum group metal (PGM) and zero-PGM content — to provide increased 
catalytic function and value for technology-driven automotive industry customers.  

Corporate - The Corporate office includes cost for personnel, insurance and public company 
expenses such as legal, audit and taxes that are not allocated down to the operating divisions.  
During 2009, the Company changed its internal reporting to the Company’s chief operational 
decision makers to report corporate expenses separately from the Catalyst division.  The 2008 
data has been restated to reflect this change. 

Discontinued operations - In 2006, the Company purchased Applied Utility Systems, Inc., a 
provider of cost-effective, engineered solutions for the clean and efficient utilization of fossil fuels.  
Applied Utility Systems, referred to as the Company’s Energy Systems division, provided 
emissions control and energy systems solutions for industrial and utility boilers, process heaters, 
gas turbines and generation sets used largely by major utilities, industrial process plants, OEMs, 
refineries, food processors, product manufacturers and universities. The Energy Systems division 
delivered integrated systems built for customers’ specific combustion processes.  As discussed in 
Note 15, this division was sold on October 1, 2009.   
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Summarized financial information for our reportable segments as of, and for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008 is shown in the following table: 

 
 2009  2008 
 US $000  US $000 
Net sales    

HDD Systems 25,916  27,126 
Catalyst 25,074  26,311 
Corporate -  - 
Eliminations 1 (476)  (874)
Total 50,514  52,563 

Income (loss) from operations    
HDD Systems 1,942  1,923 
Catalyst 2 (5,730)  (14,146)
Corporate (4,169)  (4,440)
Total (7,957)  (16,663)

Depreciation and amortization    
HDD Systems 1,143  1,061 
Catalyst 251  1,951 
Corporate -  - 
Total 1,394  3,012 

Total assets    
HDD Systems 28,181  26,357 
Catalyst 29,231  43,635 
Discontinued operations 532  11,537 
Eliminations (27,701)  (31,815)
Total 30,243  49,714 

Capital expenditures    
HDD Systems 294  526 
Catalyst 335  1,370 
Corporate -  - 
Total 629  1,896 

 

                                                 
1 Elimination of Catalyst revenue related to sales to HDD Systems. 

2 Included in Catalyst operating income (loss) in 2008 are impairment losses of $4.9 million (see Note 5).  
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Interest expense for HDD Systems was $0.3 million and $0.6 million for 2009 and 2008, 
respectively, and interest expense for Catalyst was $2.0 million and $1.7 million for 2009 and 
2008, respectively. 

Net sales by geographic region based on location of sales organization for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008 is shown in the following table: 

 2009  2008 
 US $000  US $000 
United States 27,671  29,721 
Canada 18,247  13,250 
Europe 4,596  9,592 

Total 50,514  52,563 
 

Net fixed assets and net assets by geographic region as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 are 
shown in the following table: 

 Net Fixed Assets  Net Assets 
 2009  2008  2009  2008 
 US $000  US $000  US $000  US $000 
United States 1,316  1,533  10,333  31,299 
Canada 1,313 1,043  16,016  14,507 
Europe 268 306  3,894  3,908 

Total 2,897 2,882  30,243  49,714 
 

20. Subsequent Events 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through May 5, 
2010, the date at which the financial statements were issued. 

 



 




